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Chairman’s Statement

Stephen Coe, Chairman

Introduction

The Report and Financial Statements for the year 
ended 30th November 2018 show the results of 
a maturing loan portfolio business. Net Asset Value 
(“NAV”) per share at the year end was 94.4 pence 
(2017: 98.1 pence) and dividends paid in respect 
of the year totalled 7 pence per share.  In February 
2019 we announced a dividend of 1.50 pence for 
the quarter then ended, reflecting a reduction of 0.25 
pence per share on prior quarters to take into account 
a general slowing of the property market and political 
and economic uncertainty.

Net Asset Value

The fall in NAV from 98.1 pence to 94.4 pence reflects 
unrealised losses of £546,000 provided against the 
loans to West Auckland and Gatsby projects. The 
Board has acted prudently in making such provisions 
on two projects where execution by the developers 
has not been in line with the Board’s expectations. 
The Investment Adviser has taken steps to change 
the management of these projects. The ultimate 
outcome is necessarily uncertain, but we believe that 
the provisions are prudent and sufficient. Additionally, 
an impairment of £200,000 has been made against 

the loan of £1.7m to the Pendower Hall project; the 
project is one of the related party projects taken on at 
launch of the Company. This is, again, an unrealised 
loss and our adviser is working hard to ensure an early 
exit from this project at full value.

Dividends

The country is experiencing reduced property 
transaction volumes and a slowdown in price increases.  
There are significant regional variations and the North 
East is well placed to have a level of insulation from 
these negative forces; however, in the light of ongoing 
economic and political uncertainty a small reduction in 
the quarterly dividend from 1.75 pence to 1.50 pence 
was considered appropriate.

Portfolio and Gearing

The portfolio at today’s date totals £24.7m of value 
representing 14 projects. The proportion of profit 
shares owned by the Company in the projects has 
increased from three projects to seven. The Board 
does not account for any potential profits on such 
projects until there is strong visibility and certainty 
around such profits. In due course it is hoped that such 
profits will provide upside to returns. For the year an 
unrealised profit of £104,000 has been recognised on 
the Marley Hill project which is close to completion.

In October 2018 the Company entered into an 
£8.5m committed revolving facility with Shawbrook 
Bank Limited. £3.0m was drawn down during the year 
which was utilised to assist with lending timings. This 
was repaid subsequent to the year end and remains 
available to the Company until October 2019.

During the year loans of £3.9m were repaid and since 
the year end another project, Bylaugh Hall, has been 
repaid in full (with a value of £3.4m), while investments 
of £2.3m have been made.

The Investment Adviser goes into detail on the 
projects in its report on pages 6 to 10.
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Related Parties

In the May 2018 Interim Report I noted that three 
loans (Pendower Hall referred to above, Medburn and 
Charlton Bonds) to parties related to the Investment 
Adviser or its principals were due for repayment in 
August 2018 and had been renewed on a short term 
basis while the Adviser arranges alternative financing for 
them. Various refinancing options are being explored 
in relation to Pendower and Medburn (though there 
is no certainty as to the successful outcome of that, 
refinancing) and the sale of property units in Charlton’s 
Bonds continue to take place with ongoing repayments 
to the Company. 

Conclusion

The Company seeks to provide a regular and significant 
income stream to investors within a reasonable capital 
risk framework. As the portfolio matures some losses 
are inevitable, but hopefully profits will come through. 
In the meantime active management and staying close 
to developers is key to a successful outcome.

For personal reasons I will be resigning at the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting and John 
Newlands will be Chairman in my place.  The Board 
has begun the process of recruiting a new independent 
non-executive Director.  I wish John, the rest of the 
Board and the team at Tier One Capital best wishes 
for the future.

Stephen Coe, Chairman
29th March 2019
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Investment Adviser’s Review

ABOUT THE COMPANY
TOC Property Backed Lending Trust Plc (the 
“Company”) was launched in January 2017 to provide 
shareholders with a consistent and stable income and 
the potential for an attractive total return over the 
medium to long term while managing downside risk 
through: (i) a diversified portfolio of fixed rate loans 
predominantly secured over land and/or property in 
the UK; and (ii) receiving, in many cases, the benefit 
of an associated profit share arrangement, usually 
obtained by acquiring (at nil cost) a minority equity stake 
in the relevant borrower project development vehicle 
(“Profit Shares”). 

These returns are expected to be delivered through 
the Investment Adviser’s focus on high quality and 
experienced borrowing teams, a robust and tested 
credit process and the direct origination of deal flow. The 
Investment Adviser manages downside risk by focusing 
on secured debt with both collateral and contractual 
protection, with investments aimed primarily at secured 
loans on a senior charge basis.

The Investment Adviser sees huge value in only 
providing loan facilities to strong, experienced property 
teams who can evidence that they have the ability 
to deliver on a project. Often, these teams are led 
by individuals with a wealth of experience and a 
background working within large corporate property 
development businesses and have subsequently 
decided to launch their own regional based property 
development offering. All loans are directly originated 
by the Investment Adviser utilising existing networks 
and relationships, providing further support to the 
robust credit process. 

To further enhance investor returns, the Investment 
Adviser intends to assist in negotiating profit share 
arrangements for the benefit of the Company for 
future loan advances where appropriate. This provides 
the Company with the opportunity to not only benefit 
from the interest rate created by the secured loan, 
but to also benefit from any profit generated by the 
underlying projects. This will be achieved through an 
equity holding in the project, or an equivalent level exit 
fee or revenue share.

The Company typically seeks to originate debt where 
the effective loan to value ratio of any investment is 

between 40% and 100% at the time of origination. 
The Company aims to have a blended LTV across the 
portfolio of around 75% (based on initial valuations at 
the time of loan origination) once fully invested. 
The Investment Adviser is following the Company’s 
investment policy of allocating funds raised 
predominantly across three specific areas, with set 
allocation exposures: 

• regional residential housebuilding across the UK 
with a focus on non-London based property;

• small to medium commercial property 
development across the UK primarily focusing on 
small serviced office space, hotel developments 
and wedding and conference venues; and

• direct sale and leaseback vehicles.

ABOUT THE ADVISER
Tier One Capital Ltd, as Investment Adviser, provides 
bespoke wealth management, investment management 
and fund management services to high net worth 
(HNW) private clients, charities and institutions.

Tier One Capital Ltd currently has a team of 15 
individuals with offices in London, Lausanne and its 
head office in Newcastle upon Tyne.

INVESTMENT ADVISER’S REPORT
REVIEW OF THE 12 MONTHS TO 30 
NOVEMBER 2018
In its second year of trading the portfolio continued to 
perform well, posting a NAV total return of 3.1% and 
increasing its annual dividend to 6.75p in the second year 
of trading.  We continue to be mindful of the ongoing 
challenges our borrowers are facing in a climate of rising 
interest rates, a weakening housing market and the 
ever-present shadow of Brexit. Where necessary, we 
intend to increase our monitoring presence of those 
projects we feel may be most exposed to a slowdown 
of property prices, and in particular, a slowdown in the 
time taken to sell a new residential home. 

The Company agreed four new facilities during the 
year:

•  £4,525,000 with Thursby Homes (Springs) Ltd in 
May 2018, of which £1,375,000 has been drawn 
down. This loan will finance the development 
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of 22 luxury apartments in Low Fell, Gateshead.  
The loan is at a 10% rate, with security being 
taken by a senior charge over the freehold of the 
building, with full planning permission, and the 
company’s bank account.  It also has the benefit 
of a 25.1% profit share for the Company.

•  £550,000 with Dinosauria Ltd in June 2018, of 
which all the funds have been drawn down.  This 
loan was to fund the acquisition of Gateshead 
Town Hall Old Quarter in Gateshead, Newcastle 
upon Tyne.  This loan is at an 8% rate over 
five years, with security being taken by a senior 
charge over the building and the borrower’s bank 
account which will also be required to hold nine 
months interest cover.  The borrower intends 
to modernise the buildings for use as serviced 
offices, with a medium-term plan to convert the 
main town hall into an “edutainment” attraction 
to be known as The Unnatural History Museum. 
The project has the benefit of a profit share for 
the Company.

•  £3,100,000 with Northumberland Ltd in August 
2018, of which £1,500,000 has been drawn 
down.  This loan will finance the development 
of 13 luxury apartments and four bungalows in 
Morpeth, Northumberland.  The loan is at an 
8% rate, with security being taken by a senior 
charge over the freehold of the development, 
with full planning permission, and the company’s 
bank account.  It also has the benefit of a 25.1% 
profit share for the Company.

•  £1,700,000 with Northumberland (Whitefield 
Farm) Ltd in October 2018, of which £1,000,000 
has been drawn down.  This loan will finance the 
development of 4 executive houses in Whitefield 
Farm, Red Row, Northumberland.  The loan is at 
a 10% rate, with security being taken by a senior 
charge over the development and the company’s 
bank account.  It also has the benefit of an exit fee 
of £48,458 in lieu of a profit share.

There were further deployments of capital in the 
Marley Hill, Barley Croft, Bylaugh Hall, The Willows, 
Pendower Hall and Medburn projects of £1,625,000, 
£1,120,000, £1,000,000, £800,000, £480,000 and 
£210,000 respectively.

Following the Watson & Sons exit in October 2017, 
the second successful exit occurred with the refinance 
of Quartzec Holdings on 29 January 2018 via traditional 
finance.  The £443,000 loan, at 8%, was provided 
to support the acquisition of a stable and profitable 
engineering business with an established track record in 
October 2015.  The facility predated the formation of 
the Company and was brought into the Company on 
the date of listing.  Since listing £36,023 of interest was 
generated representing an IRR of 8.3%.  

On 29 June 2018 the third successful exit occurred 
with the refinance of Commerce Chambers.  The 
£1,505,000 loan, at 8%, was provided to support the 
acquisition and conversion of a commercial property 
in the centre of Middlesbrough.  It comprises small 
serviced office space, ground floor retail units and a 
luxury short let apartment.  The facility predated the 
formation of the Company and was brought into the 
Company on the date of listing. Since listing £168,820 
of interest was received, representing an IRR of 8.3%.  

Post year end, in February 2019 the fourth successful 
exit occurred with the repayment of Bylaugh Hall.  The 
£3,379,000 loan, at 8%, was to support the acquisition 
and development of a grade two listed grand hall in 
Norfolk.  The facility predated the formation of the 
Company and was brought into the Company on the 
date of listing.  Since listing up to 30 November 2018 
£349,984 of interest was received, representing an IRR 
of 8.3%.

During the year there were a number of partial 
redemptions of both the Charlton’s Bonds and 
Inveniam Home Loans facilities, returning £975,520 
and £394,790 respectively of capital.  Post year end 
the partial redemptions continued with Marley Hill, 
Charlton’s Bonds and Inveniam Home Loans returning 
£1,004,785, £270,680, and £118,437 of capital.

Two of the projects, Barley Croft and West Auckland 
have not performed in line with expectations. The 
decision has been made to recognise a capital 
impairment of £228,664 on Barley Croft and interest 
impairments of £179,107 and £138,586 on Barley 
Croft and West Auckland.  The forecast IRR for Barley 
Croft is -3.7% and 6.9% on West Auckland.

Continued
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An impairment has also been taken on Pendower Hall 
as a prudent measure in this year’s accounts, although 
we anticipate that this facility will be repaid shortly. The 
Investment Adviser is determined, and is making good 
progress, in removing all related party exposures within 
the portfolio (of which Pendower Hall is one), and is 
in advanced discussions with a number of alternative 
finance providers with a view to refinancing this facility 
over the coming months. Additionally, while Pendower 
Hall has recently agreed to enter into a 20 year lease 
from a company in advanced stages of applying for a 
banking licence, the Board feels unable to consider this 
lease towards the property valuation until such a time 
that the banking licence is granted. It is anticipated that the 
granting of this licence, and the subsequent formalisation 
of the lease, would remove any impairment due to the 
increased property valuation; however, the intention 
of the Investment Adviser remains to exit this facility 
from our portfolio as quickly as possible. This remains 
one of the last few legacy projects created before the 
inception of the Company, and we are confident in the 
repayment of the facility over the coming months.

In October 2018, the Company agreed a committed 
revolving facility with Shawbrook Bank. This facility 

has already allowed the Company to achieve further 
growth with £3m of the facility being drawn at year end 
and deployed into projects.

At 30 November 2018, the Company had 15 live 
facilities, seven of which are a profit share arrangement 
for the benefit of the Company, with the deployment 
level sitting at £27,482,034.  

DEPLOYMENT
The portfolio continues to be deployed across 
residential 56% (Nov 2017: 47%), commercial 34% 
(Nov 2017: 41%), sale and leaseback 8% (Nov 2017: 
11%) and cash 2% (Nov 2017: 1%). 
The current average interest rate being achieved on 
the combined loan book is 8.38% (30 November 
2017:8.29%), with an average loan size having increased 
from £1.68m at 30 November 2017 to £1.87m at 30 
November 2018. This reflects the natural progression 
of the Company’s strategy of providing larger facilities as 
the AuM of the Company grows, rather than providing 
a higher volume of lower value loans. 

Project Sector Region Maturity
Date

Rate
%

Profit Share Security % of
Portfolio

LTV*
(Nov 18)

Loan Value
(Nov 18)

£’000s

Loan Value
(Nov 17)

£’000s

The Willows Commercial Essex Mar 2019 7% No Senior 14.4% 73.5% 4,058 3,258

Bylaugh Hall** Commercial Norfolk Nov 2018 8% No Senior 12.0% 42.9%* 3,379 2,379

Marley Hill Residential North East Jul 2019 8% Yes – 25.1% Senior 9.7% 67.6% 2,729 1,000

West Auckland Residential North East Mar 2020 8% No Senior 9.6% 90.2% 2,709 2,847

St Hilds Sale & Leaseback North East Feb 2020 8% Yes – 25.1% Senior 8.2% 99.9% 2,300 2,300

Medburn Residential North East Apr 2019 8% No Senior 6.6% 98.2% 1,840 1,630

Inveniam Home Loans Residential North East Mar 2019 8% No Subordinate 5.6% 69.7% 1,575 1,970

Pendower Hall Commercial North East Apr 2019 10% No Senior 5.4% 123.0% 1,513 1,233

Newgate Street Residential North East Aug 2020 8% Yes – 25.1% Senior 5.3% 135.7% 1,500 –

Bedlington Residential North East July 2019 10% Yes – 25.1% Senior 5.2% 90.7% 1,462 750

Springs Residential North East May 2020 10% Yes – 25.1% Senior 4.9% 66.3% 1,375 –

Whitefield Farm Residential North East Jan 2020 10% Exit fee taken Senior 3.6% 90.1% 1,000 –

Charlton’s Bonds Residential/Commercial North East Feb 2019 8% No Senior 3.5% 100.0% 967 1,943

Gateshead Town Hall Commercial North East Jun 2023 8% Yes Senior 2.0% 84.6% 550 –

Fernhill Residential North East Apr 2019 8% No Subordinate 1.9% 76.3% 525 525

Cash 2.2% 606 316

Total Weighted Average 8.4% 100% 82.9% 28,088 22,099

THE INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO AS AT 30 NOVEMBER 2018

* LTV has been calculated using the carrying value of the loans as at the balance sheet date

** Successfully exited in February 2019
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PROFIT SHARE PROJECTS
There are currently seven Profit Share projects in the 
portfolio (Nov 2017: three).
This year we have recognised an uplift of £104,000 in 
the equity value of Marley Hill one of the seven facilities 
(Nov 2017: £nil). The rest are recognised as nil, given 
where we are in the lifecycle of each project. We 
monitor and review this on an ongoing basis.

PIPELINE
The Investment Adviser continues to see strong deal 
flow, reflective of the lack of finance options available 
to developers in the regions.  There was £25.0m of 
potential funding opportunities across 9 projects split as 
follows:

OUTLOOK
The Investment Adviser continues to see a greater 
balance of risk and return by providing loan facilities to 
high quality and experienced property development 
teams in the regions, as opposed to central London. 

The current geographical breakdown of the Company’s 
deployment approach shows approximately 74% 
(Nov 2017: 72%) of the Company’s loans being 
focused in the North East, reflecting the Investment 
Adviser’s commitment to providing facilities based on 
a relationship led approach. The North East property 
market also provides protection against a decline in 
London property markets, as traditionally the region 
does not see the boom and bust dynamic created by 
significantly inflated property prices. 

Average house price, by English region, January 2004 to

November 2018 (Source: Office for National Statistics)

Rightmove house price index for January 2019 shows 
the average price for a property in the North East at 
£146,492 which is an annual increase of 3.8% from 
last year and a rise of 5.0% from December 2016. In 
comparison, the average price for a property in Greater 
London now stands at £593,972 in January 2019 which 
is an annual decrease of 1.2% from the previous year 
and a fall of 3.7% from December 2016.
The North East had also the highest positive house 
price growth month to month in England and Wales 
(+1.8%) after the North West (December 2018 to 
January 2019).

SECTOR ALLOCATION

70.20%
5.00%

24.80%

Residential

Sale & Leaseback

Commercial

78.80%

ScotlandNorth East

REGIONAL ALLOCATION

21.20%
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Generally, Rightmove believes that house prices will 
increase due to the overall lack of supply of housing, the 
lack of existing stock coming to the market (especially 
in the north) and the cheap mortgage rates. They 
do, however, also see house prices falling due to the 
stretched levels of affordability in some areas of the 
country (including London), but buyer affordability and 
sentiment are in more positive territory in the north 
than in the south. Savills forecasts a 17.6% increase in 
North East house prices over the next five years (against 
14.8% over the UK and only 4.5% in London) believing 
that into the second part of the current housing cycle 
the Midlands and the North of England will outperform 
London and the South. Again, Zoopla also believes that 
regional markets will continue to fend off economic 
uncertainty and provides the most growth in the UK 
housing sector. London and south-east England are 
expected to bear the brunt of Brexit in 2019. 

The January 2019 RICS UK Residential Market Survey 
results continue to signal a subdued backdrop, with 
enquires, sales and new instructions all falling further 
over the month.  In the near term, contributors sense 
little prospect of a turnaround, as concerns over the 
potential impact of Brexit continue to cause hesitancy, 

alongside affordability constraints in parts of the country.  
That said, while shorter-term sentiment remains 
downbeat, expectations at the twelve month horizon 
are modestly positive. Simon Rubinsohn, RICS chief 
economist, said, “Sales expectations for the coming 
three months remain downbeat, both at the national 
level and across most parts of the UK with expectations 
negative in 11 of the 12 regions/countries covered. The 
outlook over the next 12 months is stronger, however, 
as a headline net balance of +16% of contributors are 
expecting sales to rise” According to the report, the 
North East market is performing in line with the other 
regions, when London and the South East are excluded.

While evidence is starting to emerge of a weakening 
housing market, driven largely by the headwinds of an 
uncertain economic future from Brexit, a squeeze on 
household incomes due to rising consumer prices and 
increased tax levels, the Investment Adviser has seen 
no slowdown in investment opportunities and potential 
deal flow, the quality of which has been maintained. 
This is largely driven by the continued dearth in lending 
to small regional housebuilders from traditional lenders, 
a London-centric credit approach from most major 
lending institutions and a growing reputation in the 
market for the Company being a solid finance partner 
for strong, experienced property teams. 
The Investment Adviser remains confident of being able 
to continue to implement the Company’s investment 
policy, and to deliver the level of consistent quarterly 
income that many UK investors demand. 

Ian McElroy,
Tier One Capital Ltd
29th March 2019

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 5-year

UK 1.5% 4.0% 3.0% 2.5% 3.0% 14.8%

London -2.0% 0.0% 2.5% 1.5% 2.5% 4.5%
South East 0.0% 2.0% 2.5% 2.0% 2.5% 9.3%
East of England 0.0% 2.0% 2.5% 2.0% 2.5% 9.3%
South West 0.5% 3.5% 2.5% 2.5% 3.0% 12.6%
East Midlands 3.0% 5.0% 3.5% 3.0% 3.0% 19.3%
West Midlands 3.0% 5.0% 3.5% 3.0% 3.5% 19.3%
North East 2.0% 5.0% 3.5% 2.5% 3.5% 17.6%
Yorks & Humber 2.5% 5.5% 4.0% 3.0% 4.0% 20.5%
North West 3.0% 6.0% 4.0% 3.0% 4.0% 21.6%
West 2.0% 5.5% 4.0% 3.0% 3.5% 19.3%
Scotland 2.5% 5.0% 3.5% 2.5% 3.5% 18.2%

House price growth - Five-year forecasts
(November 2018; Source; Savills)
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Strategic Review

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE

The Company’s investment objective is to provide 
Shareholders with a consistent and stable income and 
the potential for an attractive total return over the 
medium to long term.

INVESTMENT POLICY

The Company seeks to achieve its investment objective 
through: (i) a diversified portfolio of fixed rate loans 
predominantly secured over land and/or property in 
the UK; and (ii) receiving, in many cases, the benefit of 
an associated Profit Share, usually obtained by acquiring 
a minority equity stake in the relevant borrower project 
development vehicle.

The Company attempts to reduce downside risk by 
focusing on secured debt with both quality collateral 
and contractual protection. The Company makes 
investments primarily through senior secured 
loans although other loans such as bridging loans, 
subordinated loans, selected loan financings and other 
debt instruments are considered if appropriate.

The typical loan term is between one and five years. 
The Company retains absolute discretion to make 
investments for either shorter or longer periods.

The Company’s portfolio is appropriately diversified 
by sector and predominantly split between:

• Regional residential house building across the 
UK, with a preliminary focus on non-London 
based property;

• Small to medium commercial property 
development across the UK primarily focusing on 
small serviced office space, hotel developments 
and wedding and conferencing venues; and

• Direct sale and leaseback vehicles primarily 
operating in the professional sectors of dentists, 
accountants, solicitors and finance professionals.

The Company has the benefit of an associated profit 
share arrangement with seven of the loans as at the 
year end. These arrangements have been put in 
place by taking a minority equity stake in the relevant 
borrower project development vehicle. Each Profit 
Share is with a particular borrowing team pursuant 
to which the Company has a right of first refusal to 
provide the financing for that borrowing team’s 
next five projects via the relevant borrower project 
development vehicle. The Directors (as advised by 
the Investment Adviser) anticipate that the Company 
will have the benefit of associated Profit Shares for 
approximately 80 per cent. of its future loan advances.

The Directors present their Strategic Report for the year to 30 November 2018. 
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Investment risk is spread by observance of detailed 
investment restrictions concerning loan to value ratios, 
geographic and sector concentrations.

No single investment can constitute 20% of the net 
asset value at the time of investment. No more than 
20% of the net asset value can be exposed to one 
borrower.

The Company will not invest in other listed closed-
ended investment companies.

The Company may use gearing if it believes it will 
enhance Shareholder returns over the longer term. 
On 23 October 2018 the Company entered into 
an £8.5 million committed revolving facility with 
Shawbrook Bank Limited. The facility has a one year 
term and is due to expire on 22 October 2019, after 
which it is anticipated that the Company will take out 
a new facility on comparable terms.  £3.0 million was 
drawn down at the year end.  It is intended to limit the 
Company’s borrowings to 30% of the net asset value 
at the time of drawdown.  At 30 November 2018 the 
Company’s effective gearing was 8.2%.

The Company may invest through derivatives for efficient 
portfolio management. In particular, the Company may 
engage in interest rate hedging or otherwise seek to 
mitigate the risk of interest rate increases as part of the 
Company’s efficient portfolio management. 

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND 
UNCERTAINTIES

There are a number of potential risks and uncertainties 
which could have a material effect on the Company’s 
performance.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility 
for risk management and internal control within the 
context of achieving the Company’s objectives. The 
Board agrees the strategy of the Company taking 
into consideration the Company’s risk appetite.  The 
Company also maintains a risk register to monitor the 
perceived risks and their mitigation.

The Board has undertaken an assessment of the 
principal risks facing the Company and has carried out 
a review of the effectiveness of the internal controls as 

they operated during the year and up to the approval 
date of this Annual Report.  The Board continues to 
keep the Company’s system of risk management and 
internal controls under review to ensure these principal 
risks are appropriately managed.  These principal risks 
are described below together with an explanation of 
how they are mitigated.  

INVESTMENT AND STRATEGY RISK

The Company’s targeted returns are targets only 
and are based on estimates and assumptions about 
a variety of factors including, without limitation, yield 
and performance of the Company’s investments, 
which are inherently subject to significant business, 
economic and market uncertainties and contingencies, 
all of which are beyond the Company’s control and 
which may adversely affect the Company’s ability to 
achieve its targeted returns. Accordingly, the actual 
rate of return achieved may be materially lower than 
the targeted returns, or may result in a partial or total 
loss, which could have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s profitability, the Net Asset Value and the 
price of Ordinary Shares.

Borrowers under the loans in which the Company 
invests may not fulfil their payment obligations in full, or 
at all, and/or may cause, or fail to rectify, other events 
of default under the loans.

The Board is responsible for setting the investment 
strategy to achieve the targeted returns and for 
monitoring the performance of the Investment Adviser 
and the implementation of the agreed strategy.

An inappropriate strategy could lead to poor capital 
performance and lower than targeted income yields.

This risk is mitigated through regular reviews and 
updates with the Investment Adviser, monitoring of the 
portfolio sectors against the investment restrictions on 
a quarterly basis and tracking of loan to value ratios of 
the underlying property projects.

MARKET RISK

The Company’s investment strategy relies in part upon 
local credit and real estate market conditions. Adverse 
conditions may prevent the Company from making 
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Continued

investments that it might otherwise have made leading 
to a reduction in yield and an increase in the default rate.

The full impact of Brexit is still unknown.  The Company 
holds 100% of its assets in the United Kingdom. The 
Board considers there is a risk of a further downturn 
in the UK property market due to the consequences 
of Brexit.

To mitigate the market risks, the Board receives 
quarterly updates from the Investment Adviser 
containing information on the local market conditions 
and trends.  This information is reviewed alongside the 
sector split of the portfolio to ensure the portfolio is 
aligned to meet future challenges.

FINANCIAL RISK

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of 
financial risks that include interest rate risk, liquidity risk 
and credit risk. Further details on these risks and the 
way in which they are mitigated are disclosed in the 
notes to the financial statements.

OPERATIONAL RISK

The Company has no employees and relies upon 
the services provided by third parties.  It is primarily 
dependent on the control systems of the Investment 
Adviser and Administrator who respectively maintain 
the assets and accounting records. 

Failure by any service provider to carry out its obligation 
in accordance with the terms of their appointment 
could have a detrimental effect on the Company.

To mitigate these risks the Board reviews the overall 
performance of the Investment Adviser and all other 
third party service providers on a regular basis and has 
the ability to terminate agreements if necessary. The 
business continuity plans of key third parties are subject 
to Board scrutiny.

LEGAL AND REGULATORY RISK

In order to qualify as an investment trust, the Company 
must comply with section 1158 of the Corporation 
Tax Act 2010.  The Company has been approved by 
HM Revenue & Customs as an investment trust. The 

Company is listed on the London Stock Exchange. Non-
compliance with the taxes act or a breach of listing rules 
could lead to financial penalties and reputational loss.

These risks are mitigated by the Board review of 
quarterly financial information and the compliance with 
the relevant rules.  

VIABILITY STATEMENT

In accordance with the 2016 revision of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code, the Directors have 
assessed the viability of the Company over a period 
longer than the 12 months required by the ‘Going 
Concern’ provision (this provision is detailed below). 
The Board conducted this viability review for a period 
of three years. The Board considers the Company, 
with no fixed life, to be a long term investment vehicle 
but decided this is an appropriate time period over 
which to report, reflecting the long term objectives of 
the Company and the typical loan term whilst taking 
into account the impact of uncertainties in the markets. 

The Board regularly considers a detailed cash flow 
model which does not indicate any matters which 
would give concern over the Company’s longer term 
viability. The debt portfolio held by the Company is 
however not expected to remain unchanged over the 
longer term. The Investment Adviser is expected to 
provide new loans and receive repayments, in line 
with the Company’s investment objective and policy, 
throughout the year.  At 30 November 2018 15 loans 
had been made with an average value of £1.8m and 
average time to loan maturity of 0.74 years. The longer 
the time horizon which is considered, the higher the 
degree of uncertainty over the constituents of the 
Company’s debt portfolio and, on balance, the Board 
considers that a period of three years is an appropriate 
length of time over which a detailed sensitivity analysis 
can be conducted whilst retaining a reasonable level of 
accuracy regarding forecast interest rate movements.

In making this statement the Board carried out a robust 
assessment of the principal risks facing the Company 
including those that would threaten its business model, 
furture performance, solvency or liquidity. These risks 
and their mitigations are set out above.
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The principal risks identified as most relevant to the 
assessment of the viability of the Company were those 
relating to potential impairment of loans in the portfolio 
and its effect on capital value of the Company and its 
ability to pay dividends.

When considering the risk of under-performance, the 
Board carries out a series of stress tests to understand 
the effects of any substantial future increases in interest 
rates and future worsening of the property and 
development markets on the value of the underlying 
security leading to potential breaches of loan covenants 
by the borrowers.

The results of these stress tests have given the Board 
comfort over the viability of the Company and its 
ability to maintain capital value and dividend levels. 
The Board has also considered the impact of potential 
regulatory change for future periods and the controls 
in place surrounding significant third party providers, 
including the Investment Adviser.

Based on the Company’s processes for monitoring 
revenue and costs and the Manager’s compliance with 
the investment objective and policies, the Directors 
have concluded that there is a reasonable expectation 
that the Company will be able to continue in operation 
and meet its liabilities as they fall due for a period of 
three years from the date of approval of this Report.

GOING CONCERN

The Company does not have a fixed winding-up date 
and, therefore, unless shareholders vote to wind-up 
the Company, shareholders will only be able to realise 
their investment through the market.

In assessing the going concern basis of accounting the 
Directors have had regard to the guidance issued by the 
Financial Reporting Council. After making enquiries, and 
bearing in mind the nature of the Company’s business 
and assets, the Directors consider that the Company 
has adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for a period of at least telve months from the 
date of approval of the financial statements. For this 
reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis 
in preparing the financial statements.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The below key performance indicators (KPIs) are 
used by the Board to assess the Company’s success in 

meeting its objectives. The KPIs and related Alternative 
Performance Measures are described in the Glossary 
on page 62. 

Dividend Yield

The Board targets a 7% annualised dividend yield 
based on the 100p launch price whilst ensuring the 
Company does not retain more than 15% of its 
income, thus complying with s1158 CTA 2010 and 
keeping investment trust status.

Based on the 1.50p dividend for the quarter to 28 
February 2019 declared on 21 February 2019, the 
prospective annualised dividend yield is 6% based on 
the 100p launch price.

Net Asset Value Total Return (NAV 
total return)

The Board regards the growth of the Company’s NAV 
total return as inherent to the successful delivery of 
value to the shareholders over the longer term. 

Since listing in January 2017, the Company has seen 
a NAV total return of 7.4% (including launch costs) as 
at 30 November 2018. The NAV total return for the 
year to 30 November was 3.1%.

Ongoing charges

The ongoing charges are a measure of the total 
expenses incurred by the Company expressed as a 
percentage of the average net assets over the year. 
The Board regularly reviews the ongoing charges. The 
Board seeks to ensure the expenses incurred by the 
Company are kept to a minimum whilst not impacting 
the services obtained. 

The ongoing charges ratio as at 30 November 2018 
was 2.25%.

Discount / premium to NAV

The Board monitors the level of the Company’s 
premium/discount to NAV.

The annualised average premium to the NAV for the 
Company is 7.4%.
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Continued

SOCIAL COMMUNITY, HUMAN 
RIGHTS, EMPLOYEE RESPONSIBILITIES 
AND ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY
The Directors recognise that their first duty is to 
act in the best financial interests of the Company’s 
shareholders and to achieve good financial returns 
against acceptable levels of risk, in accordance with the 
objectives of the Company.

In asking the Company’s Investment Adviser to deliver 
against these objectives, they have also requested 
that the Investment Adviser take into account the 
broader social, ethical and environmental issues 
of counterparties within the Company’s portfolio, 
acknowledging that companies failing to manage 
these issues adequately run a long term risk to the 
sustainability of their businesses. More specifically, 
they expect companies to demonstrate ethical 
conduct, effective management of their stakeholder 
relationships, responsible management and mitigation 
of social and environmental impacts, as well as due 
regard for wider societal issues. 

As an investment company with its current structure 
and no employees, the Company has no direct 
social, community, employee or environmental 
responsibilities of its own.

It does not provide goods or services in the normal 
course of business and does not have customers. 
Accordingly, the Directors consider that the Company 
does not fall within the scope of the Modern Slavery 

Act 2015 and it is not therefore, obliged to make a 
slavery and human trafficking statement. In any event, 
the Company considers its supply chains to be of low 
risk as its suppliers are typically professional advisers.

In line with the requirements of The Criminal Finances 
Act 2017, the Directors confirm that the Company has 
a commitment to zero tolerance towards the criminal 
facilitation of tax evasion.

In order to ensure compliance with the UK Bribery 
Act 2010, the Directors confirm that the Company has 
zero tolerance towards bribery and a commitment to 
carry out business openly, honestly and fairly.

The Company has no greenhouse gas emissions 
to report from its operations for the year ended 
30 November 2018 nor does it have responsibility 
for any other emissions producing sources under the 
Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and Directors’ 
Reports) Regulations 2013 (including those within the 
underlying investment portfolio).

At 30 November 2018 there were five male Directors.  
The Board believes that the current Directors have the 
appropriate range of skills and experience required by 
the Company. Diversity will continue to be considered 
as an important factor in any future appointments.

On behalf of the Board

Stephen Coe, Chairman
29th March 2019

The Willows



16

Directors’ Report

RESULTS

The results for the year are set out in the attached 
financial statements.  

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

Details of likely future developments of the Company 
are discussed in the Strategic Report on pages 11 to 15.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Statement of Corporate Governance is set out on 
pages 19 to 21 and forms part of this Report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY AND STATUS

The Company is registered in England and Wales as a 
public limited company under the Companies Act 2006 
(number 10395804). It is an investment company as 
defined by Section 833 of the Companies Act 2006. 

The Company is a member of the Association of 
Investment Companies (‘AIC’).

SHARE CAPITAL

During the year to 30 November 2017, following listing 
on 24 January 2017, 22,693,559 shares were issued.  
During the year to 30 November 2018 4,230,504 
shares were issued, taking the number of shares in 
issue to 26,924,063. Details of these transactions are 
shown in note 13 on page 50.

GOING CONCERN

In assessing the going concern basis of accounting the 
Directors have had regard to the guidance issued by the 
Financial Reporting Council. After making enquiries, and 
bearing in mind the nature of the Company’s business 
and assets, the Directors consider that the Company 
has adequate resources to continue in operational 

The Directors present their Report and Financial Statements of the Company for the year to 30 November 2018.

Gateshead Town Hall
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Continued

existence for a period of at least telve months from the 
date of approval of the financial statements. For this 
reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis 
in preparing the financial statements.

DIRECTORS

Biographical details of the Directors can be found 
following on pages 22 and 23.

All of the Directors are non-executive and, save for  Ian 
McElroy, are independent of the Investment Adviser 
and the other service providers.  

INVESTMENT MANAGER

The Company has appointed R&H Fund Services 
(Jersey) Limited to act as the Company’s alternative 
investment fund manager (AIFM) for the purposes 
of AIFMD pursuant to the Investment Management 
Agreement and accordingly the AIFM is responsible for 
providing discretionary portfolio management and risk 
management services to the Company, subject to the 
overall control and supervision of the Directors.

INVESTMENT ADVISER

The AIFM has appointed Tier One Capital Limited to 
act as the Company’s investment adviser pursuant to 
which the AIFM has delegated discretionary portfolio 
management services to the Investment Adviser, 
subject to the overall control and supervision of the 
Directors.

SUBSTANTIAL INTERESTS IN SHARE 
CAPITAL

The Company had received notification of the 
following holdings of voting rights (under the Financial 
Conduct Authority’s Disclosure Guidance and 
Transparency Rules):

NUMBER OF SHARES   % held*

Mr B Thompson 2,125,000 7.9
Preston Transport Ltd 1,700,000 6.3

*Based on 26,924,063 ordinary shares in issue as at 30 November 
2018.

The Company has not been notified of any changes 
in respect of the above holdings, and no new holdings 
have been notified, since the year end.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 
POLICY AND REPORT

It is mandatory for listed companies to put their 
Directors’ Remuneration Report to an advisory 
shareholder vote, resolution 2 seeks to approve the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report. The Directors’ 
Remuneration Policy was approved at the annual 
general meeting in June 2017. It is intended that this 
policy will continue from that date for a period of three 
years up to the annual general meeting in 2020.

CONTINUATION VOTE

In accordance with the Articles of Association, an 
ordinary resolution will be proposed at the fifth Annual 
General Meeting to continue the Company as an 
investment company, and at each third annual general 
meeting thereafter.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Subject to market conditions and the Company’s 
performance, financial position and financial outlook it 
is the Directors’ intention to pay an attractive level of 
dividend income to Shareholders on a quarterly basis. 
Whilst not forming part of the investment policy, the 
Company is targeting the payment of dividends at a 
net yield of 7% per annum on the 100p issue price of 
the shares at the Company’s launch. The Company 
intends to continue to pay all dividends as interim 
dividends.

Recognising that this means that shareholders will not 
have the opportunity to vote on a final dividend, the 
Company will instead propose a non-binding resolution 
to approve the Company’s dividend policy at the AGM 
(resolution 3). The Directors expect that such non-
binding resolution to approve the Company’s dividend 
policy will be approved annually.

The Company intends to distribute at least 85 per 
cent. of its eligible income or such other percentage 
which may be prescribed by HMRC in accordance 
with Chapter 4 of Part 24 CTA 2010.
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AUTHORITY TO MAKE MARKET 
PURCHASES OF ORDINARY SHARES

Given the Company is currently in an investment 
phase, it is unlikely that the Directors will buy back 
any ordinary shares in the short term. Thereafter 
any buy-back of ordinary shares will be subject to the 
Companies Act 2006 (as amended), the Listing Rules 
and within guidelines established by the Board from 
time to time (which take into account the income and 
cash flow requirements of the Company). Resolution 
8 will be proposed as a special resolution and seeks to 
provide the Directors with the authority to purchase 
up to 4,035,917 ordinary shares or, if less, the number 
representing approximately 14.99 per cent. of the 
Company’s ordinary shares in issue at the date of the 
passing of resolution 5. The Company may either cancel 
any ordinary shares it purchases under this authority or 
hold them in treasury. This authority will expire at the 
conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the 
Company after the passing of this resolution unless it is 
previously renewed, varied or revoked.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION 
TO THE AUDITOR

The Directors confirm that, so far as each of them are 
aware, there is no relevant audit information of which 
the Company’s auditor is unaware and the Directors 
have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken 
as Directors in order to make themselves aware of 
any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

AUDITOR

The Independent Auditor’s Report can be found on 
pages 31 to 36. BDO LLP has indicated its willingness 
to continue in office with the Company and a resolution 
will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting to 
appoint it (resolution 4).

Moore Stephens LLP were appointed as initial 
auditors by the Directors and were re-appointed by 
the members in subsequent financial periods. On 
1 February 2019 Moore Stephens LLP merged its 
business with BDO LLP. As a result, Moore Stephens 
LLP has resigned as auditor and the Directors have 
appointed BDO LLP as auditor in their place.

STATEMENT REGARDING THE 
REPORT AND FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Following a detailed review of the Report and Financial 
Statements by the Audit Committee, the Directors 
consider that taken as a whole, it is fair, balanced and 
understandable and provides the information necessary 
for shareholders to assess the Company’s position and 
performance, business model and strategy.

The post balance sheet events of the Company are 
described in detail in Note 17.

RECOMMENDATION

The Directors consider the passing of the Resolutions 
to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting to be in 
the best interest of the Company and its shareholders 
as a whole and likely to promote the success of the 
Company for the benefit of its shareholders as a whole.

Accordingly, the Directors unanimously recommend 
that shareholders should vote in favour of the 
resolutions, as they intend to in respect of their own 
beneficial shareholders amounting to 131,260 ordinary 
shares.

On Behalf of the Board

Stephen Coe, Chairman
29th March 2019
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Statement of 
Corporate Governance

STATEMENT OF CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

The Board has considered the principles set out in the 
UK Corporate Governance Code and the Association 
of Investment Companies Code of Corporate 
Governance (the “AIC Code”). The Company is a 
member of the Association of Investment Companies. 
The Board has not adopted early the revised UK 
Corporate Governance Code published in July 2018, 
which first applies to the Company for its financial 
year commencing 1 December 2019. The Company 
adheres to the principles and recommendations of the 
AIC Code and complies with the provisions of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code (April 2016) other than 
those relating to:

• The role of the Chief Executive;

• The appointment of a senior independent 
director;

• Executive directors’ remuneration; and

• The need for an internal audit function.

The Board considers the above provisions are not 
relevant to the Company due to its size. All of the 
Company’s day to day administrative functions are 
outsourced to third parties, resulting in no requirement 
for a Chief Executive or executive directors. Given the 

size and composition of the Board, the Company has 
also decided not to nominate a senior independent 
director.

INDEPENDENCE

The Board consists of three independent non-
executive Directors and a non-executive Chairman. 
They are considered by the Board to be independent 
of the Investment Manager and the Investment Adviser. 
Ian McElroy is considered not to be independent on 
the basis of his role at the Investment Adviser.

THE BOARD

Stephen Black resigned on 18 April 2018 and Ian 
McElroy was appointed to the Board with effect from 
this date.

Stephen Coe is retiring at the forthcoming 2019 
Annual General Meeting.

Further information on the Directors and their 
experience is disclosed on pages 22 and 23.

New Directors receive an induction from the 
Company Secretary and Administrator on joining the 
Board, and all Directors receive other relevant training 
as necessary.

Springs
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The basis on which the Company agrees to generate 
value over the longer term is set out in its objective 
and investment policy as contained within the Strategic 
Review.

The Company has no executive Directors or 
employees. A management agreement between 
the Company and its Investment Adviser sets out 
the matters over which the Investment Adviser has 
authority and the limits beyond which Board approval 
must be sought. All other matters, including strategy, 
investment and dividend policies, gearing and corporate 
governance procedures, are reserved for the approval 
of the Board.

Directors have attended Board and Committee 
meetings during the year ended 30 November 2018 
as follows (with their eligibility to attend the relevant 
meeting in brackets):

 Board Audit 
S Coe 5 (5) 3 (3)

S Black 2 (2) - (-)

M Harris 5 (5) 3 (3)

I McElroy 3 (3) - (-)

J Newlands 5 (5) 3 (3)

D Noble 5 (5) 3 (3)

The Board has a schedule of matters reserved to it 
for decision and the requirement for Board approval 
on these matters is communicated directly to the 
Investment Adviser. In addition to the scheduled 
meetings above, committee meetings were held 
to discuss matters including strategy, borrowings, 
investment decisions and dividend policy. 

Full and timely information is provided to the Board 
to enable the Directors to function effectively and to 
discharge their responsibilities. The Board also reviews 
the financial statements, performance and revenue 
budgets.

The Board has put in place necessary procedures to 
conduct, on an annual basis, an appraisal of the Chairman 
of the Board as well as a performance evaluation of 
the Board as a whole, the individual Directors and 

the Board Committees. This was conducted through 
completion of evaluation questionnaires.

MANAGEMENT APPOINTMENT, RE-
ELECTION AND REMUNERATION 
OF DIRECTORS

Directors are selected and appointed by the Board 
as a whole functioning as a Nomination Committee. 
It is chaired by Stephen Coe. There is no separate 
Nomination Committee as the Board is considered 
small relative to listed trading companies. The 
Directors are therefore responsible for reviewing 
the size, structure and skills of the Board and 
considering whether any changes are required or new 
appointments are necessary to meet the requirements 
of the Company’s business or to maintain a balanced 
Board.

The Articles require that Directors submit themselves 
for re-election at least every three years. In addition, 
the Board has agreed that any Director with more 
than nine years’ service will be required to stand for 
re-election at each annual general meeting. 

For the purposes of assessing compliance with the UK 
Corporate Governance Code, the Board considers all 
of the Directors, except Ian McElroy, as independent 
of the Investment Adviser and free from any business 
or other relationship that could materially interfere 
with the exercise of their independent judgement.

Ian McElroy has agreed to waive his director fee, for 
so long as he has interest in the Company’s investment 
adviser.

POLICY ON DIRECTORS’ 
REMUNERATION

The Company’s policy is that the remuneration of the 
Directors should reflect the experience of the Board 
as a whole, the time commitment required, and be fair 
and comparable with that of other similar companies. 
Furthermore, the level of remuneration should be 
sufficient to attract and retain the Directors needed 
to oversee the Company properly and to reflect its 
specific circumstances. It is intended that this policy will 
continue up to the Annual General Meeting to be held 
in 2020.
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The fees for the Directors are determined within the 
limit set out in the Company’s Articles of Association. 
The present limit is an aggregate of £400,000 per 
annum and may not be changed without seeking 
shareholder approval at a general meeting. Directors 
are not eligible for bonuses, pension benefits, share 
options long-term incentive schemes or other benefits.

It is the Board’s policy that Directors do not have 
service contracts, but each new Director is provided 
with a letter of appointment. The term of Directors’ 
appointments provide that Directors should retire and 
be subject to re-election at the first Annual General 
Meeting after their appointment.

BOARD AND DIRECTORS’ 
PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL
The performance of the Board committees and 
individual Directors will be evaluated through an 
assessment process, led by the Chairman. The 
performance of the Chairman will be evaluated by the 
other Directors.

THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
Matthew Harris is the chairman of the Company’s 
Audit Committee which comprises all independent 
directors. In discharging its responsibilities the Audit 
Committee reviews the annual and half yearly 
accounts, the system of internal controls, and the terms 
of appointment and remuneration of the auditor. It is 
also the forum through which the auditor reports to 
the Board. The Audit Committee is expected to meet 
at least twice a year. The independence of the auditor 
will be reviewed by the Audit Committee, which will 
also review the terms under which the external auditor 
is appointed to perform non-audit services. The Audit 
Committee will review the scope and results of the 
audit and its cost effectiveness.

THE MANAGEMENT ENGAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE

Stephen Coe is the chairman of the Company’s 
Management Engagement Committee which 
comprises the full Board. The Management 
Engagement Committee reviews the appropriateness 

of the Investment Adviser’s continuing appointment, 
together with the terms and conditions thereof on a 
regular basis.

DIVERSITY

The Board believes in the benefits of having a diverse 
range of skills and backgrounds, and the need to have 
a balance of experience, independence, diversity, 
including gender, and knowledge of the Company on 
its Board of Directors. All appointments will continue to 
be based on merit and therefore the Board is unwilling 
to commit to numerical diversity targets.

RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Directors place a great deal of importance on 
communication with shareholders. The Annual Report 
and Accounts are distributed to other parties who 
have an interest in the Company’s performance. 
Shareholders and investors may obtain up to date 
information on the Company through the Investment 
Adviser’s website. The Company responds to 
questions from shareholders on a wide range of issues.

A regular dialogue is maintained with the Company’s 
shareholders.

The Notice of the Annual General Meeting included 
within the Annual Report and Accounts is sent out 20 
working days in advance of the meeting. The Company 
Secretary is available to answer general shareholder 
queries at any time throughout the year.

On Behalf of the Board

Maitland Administration 
Services (Scotland) Limited
29th March 2019
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Matthew Harris
Independent non-executive 
director and audit committee 
chairman

Matt is a Chartered Accountant and an experienced 
M&A professional, who is a specialist in providing 
financial due diligence to Private Equity buyers and 
sellers. Matt was a partner at FTI Consulting (a US 
based, NASDAQ listed consulting firm), and prior 
to that was a partner in the Private Equity Group 
at KPMG, and began his career and qualified with 
Arthur Andersen. Matt has led due diligence on 
transactions across Europe and around the world, 
focusing on large and mid-sized transactions, and 
has led relationships with London and European 
based Private Equity funds. Matt has a Bachelor’s 
degree in Economics and Finance from Auckland 
University, and an MBA from Manchester Business 
School.
Shareholding as at 30 November 2017: 50,000 
ordinary shares.
Shareholding as at 30 November 2018: 50,000 
ordinary shares.

Stephen Coe
Non-executive chairman

Stephen is currently a director of Merian Chrysalis 
Investment Company Limited, Raven Russia Limited, 
Leaf Clean Energy Company and Weiss Korean 
Opportunities Fund Limited. He has been involved 
with investment funds and managers since 1990 
with significant exposure to property, debt, emerging 
markets and private equity investments. He qualified as 
a Chartered Accountant with Price Waterhouse Bristol 
in 1990 and remained in audit practice, specialising in 
financial services, until 1997. From 1997 to 2003 he 
was a director of the Bachmann Group of fiduciary 
companies and Managing Director of Bachmann Fund 
Administration Limited, a specialist third party fund 
administration company. From 2003 to 2006 Stephen 
was a director with Investec in Guernsey and Managing 
Director of Investec Trust (Guernsey) Limited and 
Investec Administration Services Limited.
He became self-employed in August 2006 providing 
services to financial services clients.
Stephen intends to retire at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting.
Shareholding as at 30 November 2017: 30,000 
ordinary shares.
Shareholding as at 30 November 2018: 30,000 
ordinary shares.

Board of Directors
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Douglas Noble
Independent non-
executive director

Douglas has over 25 years’ private 
banking experience.  He is currently 
Senior Adviser to Weatherbys Private 
Bank and sits on Banks Scottish 
Advisory Board. Previous to this he 
has held Senior Executive roles in 
the Banking Industry including the 
Scottish Head of Private Banking for 
Barclays, Adam & Company and 
HBOS. He also launched Bank of 
Scotland’s first ever private banking 
operation. Douglas holds a law 
degree from Dundee University, as 
well as achieving the PCIAM and 
IMC from the CFA. He is a member 
of the Chartered Institute of Bankers, 
Scotland and holds to Chartered 
Banker status.
Shareholding as at 30 November 
2017: 8,600 ordinary shares.
Shareholding as at 30 November 
2018: 8,600 ordinary shares.

John Newlands
Independent non-
executive director

John has served more than twenty 
years in the City, having left the Royal 
Navy in 1995.  The last ten years were 
spent with Brewin Dolphin Limited 
as Head of Investment Companies 
Research. John is currently director 
of Gabelli Merger Plus Trust PLC and 
CQS New City High Yield Fund Ltd 
and a member of the Investment 
Committee of Durham Cathedral. 
He was a member of the Association 
of Investment Companies Statistics’ 
Committee from 2000 to 2017. 
He has an MBA from Edinburgh 
University Business School and is a 
Chartered Electrical Engineer. He 
has written four books about financial 
history, the most recent charting the 
history of F&C Investment Trust.
Shareholding as at 30 November 
2017: 5,000 ordinary shares
Shareholding as at 30 November 
2018: 5,000 ordinary shares.

Ian McElroy
Non-independent 
non-executive director

Following a successful first decade in 
the financial services sector, during 
which Ian enjoyed key roles at 
Barclays Wealth, Kleinwort Benson 
and Coutts, he co-founded Tier One 
Capital, with the aim of providing 
common sense financial advice and 
investment management to the high 
net worth market.
Ian has vast experience in the 
origination, structuring and 
monitoring of high-end credit 
facilities. He is a Chartered Fellow of 
the CISI as well as being a Chartered 
Wealth Manager.
Shareholding as at 30 November 
2017: n/a.
Shareholding as at 30 November 
2018: 37,660 ordinary shares.
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Directors’ 
Remuneration Report

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Under the UK Listing Rules, where an investment 
company has only non-executive directors, the 
Governance Code principles relating to directors’ 
remuneration do not apply. The full Board may act as 
the Remuneration Committee. 

The remuneration of the Directors has been set in 
order to attract individuals of a calibre appropriate to the 
future development of the Company. The Company’s 
policy on Directors’ remuneration, together with 
details of the remuneration of each Director, is shown 
below.

The Board has prepared this report in accordance with 
the requirements of Section 421 of the Companies Act 
2006. An ordinary resolution for the approval of this 
Report will be put to the members at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting.

POLICY ON DIRECTORS’ 
REMUNERATION

The Company’s policy is that the remuneration of the 
Directors should reflect the experience of the Board 
as a whole, the time commitment required, and be fair 
and comparable with that of other similar companies. 
Furthermore, the level of remuneration should be 
sufficient to attract and retain the Directors needed 

to oversee the Company properly and to reflect its 
specific circumstances. It is intended that this policy will 
continue up to the Annual General Meeting in 2020.

The fees for the Directors are determined within the 
limit set out in the Company’s Articles of Association. 
The present limit is an aggregate of £400,000 per 
annum and may not be changed without seeking 
shareholder approval at a general meeting. Directors 
are not eligible for bonuses, pension benefits, share 
options long-term incentive schemes or other 
benefits. No element of the Directors’ remuneration 
is performance-related.

It is the Board’s policy that Directors do not have 
service contracts, but each new Director is provided 
with a letter of appointment. The term of Directors’ 
appointments provide that Directors should retire and 
be subject to re-election at the first Annual General 
Meeting after their appointment.

The Company’s Articles of Association provide that 
Directors shall not remain in office for longer than three 
years without submitting themselves for re-election.

No Director past or present has any entitlement to 
pensions, and the Company has not awarded any 
share options or long-term performance incentives to 
any of the Directors.
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Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance cover is 
maintained by the Company on behalf of the Directors.

DATES OF APPOINTMENT

The terms of Directors’ appointments provide 
that Directors should retire and be subject to re-
election at the first Annual General Meeting after 
their appointment. Directors are obliged to retire by 
rotation, and must offer themselves for re-election 
by shareholders at least every three years after that. 
Directors with a tenure of 9 years or over will retire 
and seek re-election annually. There is no notice 
period and no provision for compensation upon early 
termination of appointment.

Director Date of  Due date 
 Appointment  for re- 
  election

S Coe 19 Dec 2016 n/a
 

M Harris 19 Dec 2016 AGM 2020
 

D Noble 19 Dec 2016 AGM 2020
 

J Newlands 14 Nov 2017 AGM 2021
 

I McElroy 18  Apr 2018 AGM 2021

ANNUAL REPORT ON DIRECTORS’ 
REMUNERATION

The Directors who served in the year received the 
below fees:

 2018  2017
S Coe (Chairman)  £30,000 £25,692

 
M Harris £30,000 £25,692

 
D Noble £30,000 £25,692

 
J Newlands £30,000 £1,500

 

Total  £120,000 £78,576

Each director, except for Ian McElroy, earns £30,000 
annually.

RELATIVE IMPORTANCE ON 
SPEND ON PAY

The table below sets out in respect of the financial year 
ended 30 November 2018 and the preceding financial 
period:

a) the remuneration paid to Directors; and

b) the distribution made to shareholders by way of 
interest dividend

 2018 2017
 £’000 £’000
Total remuneration 120 79

 
Dividend 1,674 433

 
Expenses 1,296 355

Directors’ fees as a percentage of:

 2018 2017
 % %
Dividend 7.2 18.1
Expenses 9.3 22.1

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

The Directors, including connected parties who held 
office at the year end and their interests (all beneficial) 
in the Ordinary Shares of the Company were as 
follows:

   At 30 November  At 30 November
   2018 2017
   Ordinary shares Ordinary Shares
S Coe 30,000 30,000

  
M Harris 50,000 50,000

 
I McElroy 37,660 n/a

 
J Newlands 5,000 5,000

 
D Noble 8,600 8,600

There has been no change in the ordinary share 
holdings of the Directors between 30 November 
2018 and signing date.

Continued
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COMPANY PERFORMANCE

The Board is responsible for the Company’s investment 
strategy and performance, although the management 
of the Company’s investment portfolio is delegated to 
the Investment Adviser through the investment adviser 
agreement, as referred to in the Directors’ Report on 
page 16.

The graph below illustrates the total shareholder 
return for a holding in the Company’s shares as 
compared to the FTSE 100 for the period from listing 
to 30 November 2018.  The Company considers this 
to be an appropriate index against which to measure 

the Company’s performance, in the absence of a 
meaningful benchmark index.

VOTING AT AGM

At the Company’s last Annual General Meeting, 
held on 18 April 2018, shareholders approved the 
Directors’ Remuneration Policy and Report in respect 
of the period ended 30 November 2017. 100% of the 
votes cast were in favour of this resolution.

An ordinary resolution for the approval of this 
Directors’ Remuneration Report will be put to an 
advisory shareholders vote at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting.

APPROVAL

The Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 24 to 
26 was approved by the Board of Directors and signed 
on its behalf on 29 March 2019.

Stephen Coe, Chairman
29th March 2019
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Statement of 
Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Report 
and Financial Statements, in accordance with applicable 
law and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(‘IFRS’) as adopted by the EU.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare 
financial statements for each financial year. Under that 
law the Directors have elected to prepare the financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the 
EU.

Under Company law the Directors must not approve 
the financial statements unless they are satisfied that 
they present a fair, balanced and understandable report 
and provide the information necessary for shareholders 
to assess the Company’s performance, business model 
and strategy.

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors 
are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable International Financial 
Reporting Standards, as adopted by the EU, 
have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements.

• prepare the financial statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the Company’s transactions and disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position 
of the Company and enable them to ensure that its 
financial statements comply with the Companies Act 
2006, where applicable. They are responsible for 
taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to 
safeguard the assets of the Company and to prevent 
and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Under applicable UK law and regulations, the Directors 
are also responsible for preparing a Strategic Report 
and a Directors’ Report that complies with that law and 
those regulations.

The financial statements are published on 
www.tocpropertybackedlendingtrust.co.uk which is 
a website maintained by the Company’s Investment 
Adviser. The Directors are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial 
information included on the Company’s website. 
Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

The Directors confirm that to the best of our 
knowledge:

• the financial statements, prepared in accordance 
with the applicable International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, give 
a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and 
financial position of the Company;

• in the opinion of the Directors, the Report and 
Financial Statements taken as a whole, is fair, 
balanced and understandable and it provides the 
information necessary to assess the Company’s 
position and performance, business model and 
strategy.

• so far as each Director is aware, there is 
no relevant audit information of which the 
Company’s auditor is unaware; and

• the Directors have taken all the steps that they 
ought to have taken as directors in order to 
make themselves aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the auditors are 
aware of that information.

On Behalf of the Board

Stephen Coe, Chairman
29th March 2019
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Report of the 
Audit Committee

COMPOSITION OF THE AUDIT 
COMMITTEE

An Audit Committee has been established with written 
terms of reference and comprises four non-executive 
Directors, M Harris (Chairman), S Coe, D Noble and 
J Newlands.

The Audit Committee members have recent and 
relevant financial experience. The terms of reference 
of the Audit Committee are reviewed and re-assessed 
for their adequacy on an annual basis and are available 
on request.

ROLE OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

A summary of the Committee’s main audit review 
functions is shown below:

• To review and monitor the internal control 
systems and risk management systems on which 
the Company is reliant;

• To consider annually whether there is a need 
for the Company to have its own internal audit 
function;

• To monitor the integrity of the interim and 
annual financial statements of the Company by 
reviewing, and challenging where necessary, 

the actions and judgements of the Investment 
Manager, the Investment Adviser, the Company 
Secretary and the Administrator;

• To meet with the external Auditor to review 
their proposed audit programme of work and 
their findings. The Board shall also use this as 
an opportunity to assess the effectiveness of the 
audit process;

• To make recommendations in relation to 
the appointment of the external Auditor and 
to approve the remuneration and terms of 
engagement of the external Auditor;

• To monitor and review annually the external 
Auditor’s independence, objectivity, effectiveness, 
resources and qualification; and

• To consider and approve all non-audit services.

ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The Board of Directors are responsible for preparing 
the Annual Report and financial statements. The Audit 
Committee advises the Board on the form and content 
of the Annual Report and financial statements, any 
issues which may arise and any specific areas which 
require judgement.
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The valuation of investments in the form of loans and 
profit shares, the building projects given as guarantee 
for the loans, and the loan recoverability and interest 
receipt were areas of focus given their significance to 
the financial statements as a whole and these were 
specifically reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Following discussion with the Investment Adviser, the 
Audit Committee gained comfort over the valuation of 
the loans as included in the Annual Report and financial 
statements.

Moore Stephens LLP’s audit in respect of the year 
ended 30 November 2017 was subject to review 
by the FRC’s Audit Quality Review team during 
the year as part of its routine program of audit firm 
quality inspection program. In line with its policy, the 
Committee was provided with a copy of the review 
findings. The Committee discussed the findings of 
the review with the audit engagement partner and 
consider that the points raised have been addressed 
as part of the audit of 30 November 2018 year end.

AUDITOR

As part of its review of the scope and results of the 
audit, during the year the Audit Committee considered 
and approved BDO’s plan for the audit of the financial 
statements for the year ended 30 November 2018. 
At the conclusion of the audit BDO did not highlight 
any issues to the Audit Committee which would cause 
it to qualify its audit report nor did it highlight any 
fundamental internal control weaknesses. BDO issued 
an unqualified audit report which is included on pages 
31 to 36.

It has been agreed that all non-audit work to be 
carried out by BDO must be approved in advance by 
the Audit Committee.  BDO carried out no non-audit 
work in the year ended 30 November 2018 (2017: 
£186,000).

As part of the review of auditor independence and 
effectiveness, BDO has confirmed that it is independent 
of the Company and has complied with relevant auditing 
standards. In evaluating BDO, the Audit Committee 
has taken into consideration the standing, skills and 
experience of the firm and the audit team. The Audit 

Committee, from direct observation and enquiry of 
the Manager and the Administrator, remains satisfied 
that BDO continues to provide effective independent 
challenge in carrying out its responsibilities.

Following professional guidelines, the audit partner 
will rotate after five years. The current audit partner 
is in the second year of his appointment. Moore 
Stephens LLP were appointed as initial auditors by the 
Directors and were re-appointed by the members 
in subsequent financial periods. On 1 February 2019 
Moore Stephens LLP merged its business with BDO 
LLP. As a result, Moore Stephens LLP has resigned as 
auditor and the Directors have appointed BDO LLP as 
auditor in their place. Fees paid this year and the prior 
period are disclosed on page 47 of the Notes to the 
Financial Statements.

The main areas of accounting risk considered by 
the Committee during the year in relation to the 
Company’s financial statements were the valuation 
and ownership of investments held by the Company.

The valuation of investments is undertaken in 
accordance with the accounting policies as set out in 
note 1. Details of the fair value hierarchy are set out 
in note 8.

In order to address these risks the Company have 
appointed an Investment Adviser with clearly defined 
contracts and any breaches of these, or any law or 
regulation to Company is required to comply with, are 
reported to the Board. The loan book and its value 
is reviewed on a quarterly basis and verified by the 
Investment Adviser. A full portfolio is prepared for 
each Board meeting, including a detailed update on 
development works, collateral given and loan to value 
ratios, which is actively commented on and discussed 
by the Directors.

The Company also receives regular reporting on 
internal controls (as detailed below).

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is ultimately responsible for the Company’s 
system of internal control and for reviewing its 
effectiveness. Following publication of the Financial 
Reporting Council’s “Internal Control: Revised 

Continued
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Guidance for Directors on the Combined Code” 
(the “FRC Guidance”) the Board confirms that there 
is an on-going process for identifying, evaluating and 
managing the significant risks faced by the Company. 
This process has been in place for the year under 
review and up to the date of approval of this Annual 
Report and is regularly reviewed by the Board and 
accords with the FRC Guidance.

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control. In particular, it has reviewed 
and updated the process for identifying and evaluating 
the significant risks affecting the Company and policies 
by which these risks are managed. The significant risks 
faced by the Company are as follows:

• Investment & strategy;

• Financial;

• Operational; and

• Legal & regulatory

The key components designed to provide effective 
internal control are outlined below:

• Maitland Administration Services (Scotland) 
Limited act as Company Secretary and 
Administrator together with the Investment 
Adviser prepare forecasts and management 
accounts which allow the Board to assess the 
Company’s activities and review its performance;

• the Board and Investment Adviser have agreed 
clearly defined investment criteria, specified 
levels of authority and exposure limits. Reports 
on these issues, including concentration limits 
and loan to value ratios, are regularly submitted 
to the Board and there are meetings with the 
Investment Adviser as appropriate;

• as a matter of course the Investment Adviser’s 
Credit and Compliance teams continually review 
the Investment Adviser’s operations and reports 
to the Board on any breaches;

• written agreements are in place which 
specifically define the roles and responsibilities 
of the Investment Adviser, Company Secretary, 

Administrator and other third party service 
providers;

• the Board has considered the need for an internal 
audit function but, because of the compliance 
and internal control systems in place at the 
Investment Adviser, the Company Secretary 
and Administrator, has decided to place reliance 
on the Investment Adviser’s, the Company 
Secretary’s and Administrator’s systems and 
internal audit procedures.

At its March 2019 meeting, the Audit Committee 
carried out an annual assessment of internal controls 
for the year ended 30 November 2018 by considering 
documentation from the Investment Adviser, the 
Company Secretary and Administrator, and taking 
account of events since 30 November 2018. The 
results of the assessment were then reported to the 
Board at the next Board meeting.

Internal control systems are designed to meet the 
Company’s particular needs and the risks to which it 
is exposed. Accordingly, the internal control systems 
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk 
of failure to achieve business objectives and by their 
nature can only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance against mis-statement and loss.

The principal risks and uncertainties affecting the 
Company are disclosed on page 12.

Matthew Harris
Chairman of Audit 
Committee
29th March 2019
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Independent 
Auditor’s Report

OPINION 

We have audited the financial statements of TOC 
Property Backed Lending Trust Plc (the ‘company’) for 
the year ended 30 November 2018 which comprise 
the Statement of comprehensive income, Statement of 
financial position, Statement of changes in equity, Cash 
flow statement and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
The financial reporting framework that has been applied 
in their preparation is applicable law and International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 
European Union.

In our opinion, the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the 
company’s affairs as at 30 November 2018 and 
of its profit for the year then ended; and

• the financial statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted 
by the European Union. 

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) 
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the 
company in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements 
in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as 
applied to listed public interest entities, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to 
principal risks, going concern 
and viability statement

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
information in the annual report, in relation to which 

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of TOC Property Backed Lending Trust plc

Continued
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the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you whether we 
have anything material to add or draw attention to:

• the disclosures in the annual report set out 
on page 12 that describe the principal risks 
and explain how they are being managed or 
mitigated;

• the Directors’ confirmation set out on page 13 
in the annual report that they have carried out a 
robust assessment of the principal risks facing the 
company, including those that would threaten its 
business model, future performance, solvency 
or liquidity;

• the Directors’ statement set out on page 16 
in the financial statements about whether the 
Directors considered it appropriate to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting in preparing 
the financial statements and the Directors’ 
identification of any material uncertainties to 
company’s ability to continue to do so over a 
period of at least twelve months from the date 
of approval of the financial statements;

• whether the Directors’ statement relating to 
going concern required under the Listing Rules 
in accordance with Listing Rule 9.8.6R(3) is 
materially inconsistent with our knowledge 
obtained in the audit; or

• the Directors’ explanation set out on page 13 in 
the annual report as to how they have assessed 
the prospects of the company, over what period 
they have done so and why they consider that 
period to be appropriate, and their statement as 
to whether they have a reasonable expectation 
that the company will be able to continue in 
operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due 
over the period of their assessment, including 
any related disclosures drawing attention to any 
necessary qualifications or assumptions.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements of the current 
period and include the most significant assessed risks 
of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) 
that we identified. These matters included those which 
had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the 
allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the 
efforts of the engagement team. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters.
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Key audit matter

Valuation of loans:
(page 45 and Note 9 on page 49)

The primary purpose of the company is 
to generate income from making loans to 
finance property developments and other 
property assets. Loans are held at amortised 
cost. As such a key issue for the company is 
the recoverability of these loans. 

Loans are secured on the underlying 
properties or property developments and 
management monitor the loan to value 
ratios to ensure that the loan can be repaid 
from a sale of the secured properties if 
required. 

Management instructs RICS registered 
surveyors periodically to undertake 
valuations of properties or development 
land to support the value of security in 
place. 

For properties under development there is 
an inherent uncertainty over the realisable 
value of the completed properties and of 
the final costs to develop the properties, 
and this in turn represents a risk to the 
ultimate repayment of the loan. 

In order to determine whether a loan 
is impaired, management carry out an 
assessment of each loan to assess whether 
there is objective evidence of impairment 
with reference to the indicators set out in 
IAS 39. 

If it is determined that a loan is impaired, 
management estimate the loss as the 
difference between the carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the loan’s original 
effective interest rate.   

The assessment as to whether a loan 
is impaired and by how much involves 
a significant degree of management 
judgement and is therefore subject to 
management override of controls. This 
increases audit risk.

How we addressed the key audit matter in the audit

We performed the following procedures:

• reviewing and assessing management’s assessment on a loan 
by loan basis as to whether there is any objective evidence of 
impairment;

• reviewing the type and level of security that has been put in 
place in relation to each loan. This included checking that rights 
to security have been properly registered and reviewing the 
basis of loan to value calculations;

• we have reviewed the most recent RICS valuations and 
performed an assessment of the independence, objectivity, 
competence, capabilities of the valuers and of the key 
assumptions and inputs which they have used in the valuation. 
This assessment included a discussion with the valuers. In most 
cases the valuers use a comparable value approach and we 
corroborated these values to publicly available property sales 
data;

• for those loans relating to projects under development, we 
reviewed the gross development value as assessed by the 
valuer against the expected development costs to determine if 
a project is likely to generate sufficient returns to repay the loan. 
We also considered the sensitivity of these returns to changes 
in sales prices and development costs, and we assessed the 
level of  expected development costs against quantity surveyor 
reports where available. For completed properties we 
obtained details of sales to date and reviewed for evidence of 
price discounting;

• for a selection of the property developments, we conducted 
a site visit near to the year end to verify that the development 
exists and that it appears to be at the stage reported to us;

• for individual loans identified as impaired we: 

o reviewed the impairment calculations prepared by 
management for arithmetic accuracy;

o assessed and challenged the reasonableness of the 
key assumptions of the impairment calculation, being 
forecasted sales values and timing of sales of the underlying 
development project;

o compared estimated sales values to actual sales to date, and 
corroborated actual sales to underlying evidence;

o performed sensitivity analysis of the estimated impairment 
provision with reference to the key assumptions; and

• used the above procedures to assess the reasonableness of 
the impairment provision.  
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Our application of materiality

We apply the concept of materiality in planning and 
performing our audit, and in evaluating the effect of 
misstatements and omissions on our audit and on the 
financial statements. For the purposes of determining 
whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement we define materiality as the level of 
misstatement, including omissions that could influence 
the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable 
user of the financial statements. 

We determined materiality for the financial statements 
as a whole to be £287,000 (2017: £224,000) which 
was determined by reference to a benchmark of 
approximately 1% (2017: 1%) of total assets. Total 
assets is considered the most appropriate benchmark 
given that the company’s principal activity is to make 
loans  and to generate returns from these loans. 

Performance materiality for the Financial Statements as 
a whole was set at £201,000 (2017: £157,000), which 
was based on 70% (2017: 70%) of Financial Statement 
materiality. This lower level of materiality is applied in 
performance of the audit when determining the nature 
and extent of testing applied to individual balances 
and classes of transactions. In setting performance 
materiality, we had regard to the Financial Statement 
materiality and the risk and control environment. A 
lower level of materiality was used when performing 
testing of items that have an impact on revenue profit. 
This lower level was set at £52,000 (2017: £45,000), 
being based on a benchmark of approximately 5% 
(2017: 5%) of profit before tax.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would 
report to them any misstatements in excess of £14,380 
(2017: £11,200) that we identified through the course 
of our audit, together with any qualitative matters that 
warrant reporting.

AN OVERVIEW OF THE SCOPE OF 
OUR AUDIT
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality 
and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the 
financial statements. In particular, we looked at where 
the directors made subjective judgements, for example 
in respect of the valuation of loans which have a high 

level of estimation uncertainty involved in determining 
impairment provisions. 

We gained an understanding of the legal and regulatory 
framework applicable to the company and the industry 
in which it operates, and considered the risk of acts 
by the company which were contrary to applicable 
laws and regulations, including fraud. These included 
but were not limited to compliance with Companies 
Act 2006, the FCA listing and DTR rules, the principles 
of the UK Corporate Governance Code, industry 
practice represented by the AIC SORP and IFRS. 
We also considered the company’s qualification as an 
investment trust under UK tax legislation as any breach 
of this would lead to the company losing various 
deductions and exemptions from corporation tax. 

We designed audit procedures to respond to the risk, 
recognising that the risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not 
detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery, 
misrepresentations or through collusion. 

We focused on laws and regulations that could give 
rise to a material misstatement in the company financial 
statements. Our tests included, but were not limited 
to:

•  agreement of the financial statement disclosures 
to underlying supporting documentation;

•  enquiries of management;                                                                             

•  review of minutes of board meetings throughout 
the period; and

•  obtaining an understanding of the  control 
environment in monitoring compliance with laws 
and regulations. 

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures 
described above and the further removed non-
compliance with laws and regulations is from the events 
and transactions reflected in the financial statements, 
the less likely we would become aware of it. As in all of 
our audits we also addressed the risk of management 
override of internal controls, including testing journals 
and evaluating whether there was evidence of bias 
by the directors that represented a risk of material 
misstatement due to fraud. 
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OTHER INFORMATION 
The Directors are responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the 
other information and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with 
our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility 
is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we 
are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material 
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of the other information, we are 
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

In this context, we also have nothing to report in 
regard to our responsibility to specifically address the 
following items in the other information and to report 
as uncorrected material misstatements of the other 
information where we conclude that those items meet 
the following conditions:

• Fair, balanced and understandable set out 
on page 18 – the statement given  by the 
directors that they consider the annual report 
and financial statements taken as a whole is fair, 
balanced and understandable and provides the 
information necessary for shareholders to assess 
the company’s performance, business model 
and strategy, is materially inconsistent with our 
knowledge obtained in the audit; or

• Audit committee reporting set out on pages 
28 to 30 –  the section describing the work 
of the audit committee does not appropriately 
address matters communicated by us to the 
audit committee / the explanation as to why 
the annual report does not include a section 
describing the work of the audit committee 

is materially inconsistent with our knowledge 
obtained in the audit; or

• Directors’ statement of compliance with the 
UK Corporate Governance Code set out on 
pages 19 to 21 – the parts of the directors’ 
statement required under the Listing Rules 
relating to the company’s compliance with the 
UK Corporate Governance Code containing 
provisions specified for review by the auditor in 
accordance with Listing Rule 9.8.10R(2) do not 
properly disclose a departure from a relevant 
provision of the UK Corporate Governance 
Code.

OPINIONS ON OTHER MATTERS 
PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES 
ACT 2006

In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ remuneration 
report to be audited has been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the 
course of the audit:

• the information given in the strategic report and 
the Directors’ report for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are prepared is 
consistent with the financial statements; 

• and the strategic report and the Directors’ 
report have been prepared in accordance with 
applicable legal requirements.

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE 
REQUIRED TO REPORT BY 
EXCEPTION

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of 
the company and its environment obtained in the 
course of the audit, we have not identified material 
misstatements in the strategic report or the Directors’ 
report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

• adequate accounting records have not been 
kept by the company, or returns adequate for 
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our audit have not been received from branches 
not visited by us; or

• the company’s financial statements and the part 
of the Directors’ remuneration report to be 
audited are not in agreement with the accounting 
records and returns; or

• certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration 
specified by law are not made; or

• we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities 
statement set out on page 27, the Directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, 
and for such internal control as the Directors determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors 
are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either 
intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR 
THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit 

of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities.  This description forms part of 
our auditor’s report.

OTHER MATTERS WHICH WE ARE 
REQUIRED TO ADDRESS

Moore Stephens LLP were appointed as initial auditors 
by the Directors on 10 January 2017, and following 
the recommendation of the Directors, we were 
re-appointed by the members on 28 June 2017 to 
audit the financial statements for the year ending 30 
November 2017 and subsequent financial periods. 
On 1 February 2019 Moore Stephens LLP merged its 
business with BDO LLP. As a result, Moore Stephens 
LLP has resigned as auditor and the directors have 
appointed BDO LLP as auditor in their place. The 
period of total uninterrupted engagement is 3 years, 
covering the years ending 30 November 2016, 30 
November 2017 and 30 November 2018.

The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical 
Standard were not provided to the company and we 
remain independent of the company in conducting our 
audit.

Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional 
report to the audit committee.

USE OF OUR REPORT

This report is made solely to the company’s members, 
as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of 
the Companies Act 2006.  Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the company’s 
members those matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the company and its members as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have 
formed.

Timothy West
Senior Statutory Auditor
For and on behalf of BDO LLP 
Statutory Auditor
150 Aldersgate Street, London EC1A 4AB

29th March 2019
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BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered 
in England and Wales (with registered number 
OC305127).
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Statement of 
Comprehensive Income

Notes
Revenue

£’000
Capital
£’000

Total
£’000

Revenue
£’000

Capital
£’000

Total
£’000

Revenue
Investment interest 2 2,044 - 2,044 1,347 - 1,347

Total revenue 2,044 - 2,044 1,347 - 1,347

Unrealised gain on investments 8 - 104 104 - - -

Total income 2,044 104 2,148 1,347 - 1,347

Expenditure
Investment adviser fee 3 - - - - - -

Impairments 4 (317) (429) (746) - - -

Other expenses 4 (550) - (550) (326) (108) (434)

Total expenditure (867) (429) (1,296) (326) (108) (434)

Profit before finance costs and 
taxation 1,177 (325) 852 1,021 (108) 913

Net finance costs

Interest payable (14) - (14) - - -

Profit before taxation 1,163 (325) 838 1,021 (108) 913

Taxation 5 - - - (48) - (48)

Profit for the year and total 
comprehensive profit for the year 1,163 (325) 838 973 (108) 865

Basic earnings per share 7 4.54p (1.27)p 3.27p 4.68p (0.48)p 4.16p

Year to 30 November 2018 Year to 30 November 2017

The total column of this statement represents the Company’s Statement of Comprehensive Income, prepared in 
accordance with IFRS.  The supplementary revenue return and capital return columns are both prepared under 
guidance published by the Association of Investment Companies.

All revenue and capital items in the above statement derive from continuing operations.

There is no other comprehensive income as all income is recorded in the statement above.
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Statement of 
Financial Position

Notes £’000 £’000

Non-current assets
Investments held at fair value 8 104 -

Loans at amortised cost 9 8,238 10,783

8,342 10,783

Current assets
Loans at amortised cost  9 19,140 10,999

Other receivables and prepayments 10 473 299

Cash and cash equivalents 606 316

20,219 11,614

Total assets 28,561 22,397

Current liabilities

Loan facility 11 (2,944) -

Other payables and accrued expenses 12 (203) (131)

Total liabilities (3,147) (131)

Net assets 25,414 22,266

Share capital and reserves

Share capital 13 269 227

Share premium 14 9,094 5,152

Special distributable reserve 14 16,455 16,455

Revenue reserve 14 29 540

Capital reserve 14 (433) (108)

Equity shareholders’ funds 25,414 22,266

Net asset value per ordinary share 94.39p 98.11p

As at 30 
November 

2018

As at 30 
November 

2017

The notes on pages 42 to 54 form an integral part of the financial statements.
The financial statements on pages 38 to 54 were approved by the Board of Directors of TOC Property Backed 
Lending Trust plc (a public limited company incorporated in England and Wales with company number 10395804) 
and authorised for issue on 29 March 2019. They were signed on its behalf by:

Stephen Coe
Chairman
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Statement of 
Changes in Equity

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Special 
distributable 

reserve
Capital 
reserve

Revenue 
reserve Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At beginning of the year 227 5,152 16,455 (108) 540 22,266

Total comprehensive income for the 
year:

Profit for the year - - - (325) 1,163 838

Transactions with owners 
recognised directly in 
equity:

Ordinary shares issued 42 4,188 - - - 4,230

Share issue costs - (246) - - - (246)

Dividends paid - - - - (1,674) (1,674)

At 30 November 2018 269 9,094 16,455 (433) 29 25,414

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Special 
distributable 

reserve
Capital 
reserve

Revenue 
reserve Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At beginning of the year 50 - - - - 50

Total comprehensive income for the 
year:

Profit for the year - - - (108) 973 865

Transactions with owners 
recognised directly in 
equity:

Cancellation of launch management 
shares

(50) - - - - (50)

Cancellation of launch share premium - (16,455) 16,455 - - -

Ordinary shares issued 227 22,467 - - - 22,694

Share issue costs - (860) - - - (860)

Dividends paid - - - - (433) (433)

At 30 November 2017 227 5,152 16,455 (108) 540 22,266

For the year ending 
30 November 2018

For the year ending 
30 November 2017
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Cash Flow Statement

Notes £’000 £’000

Operating activities

Profit after taxation 838 865

Impairments 746 -

Unrealised gain on investments (104) -

Increase in other receivables (174) (249)

Increase in other payables 72 131

Interest paid 14 -

Net cash inflow from operating 
activities before interest and 
after taxation

1,392 747

Net cash inflow from operating 
activities 1,392 747

Investing activities

Loans given (10,260) (11,806)

Loans repaid 3,918 1,625

Net cash outflow from 
investing activities (6,342) (10,181)

Financing

Issue of ordinary shares 13 3,984 10,233

Equity dividends paid (1,674) (433)

Cancellation of management shares - (50)

Bank loan drawn down 2,944 -

Interest paid (14) -

Net cash inflow from financing 5,240 9,750

Increase in cash and cash 
equivalents 290 316

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year 316 -

Cash and cash equivalents at 
the end of the year 606 316

Year ending 
30 November 

2018

Year ending 
30 November 

2017

There are no non-cash changes arising from financing activities.
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Notes to the 
Financial Statements

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(A) BASIS OF PREPARATION
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as 
adopted by the European Union (“EU”).  The financial 
statements were also prepared in accordance with 
the Statement of Recommended Practice (“SORP”) 
for investment trusts issued by the AIC (as issued in 
November 2014 and updated in January 2017), where 
this guidance is consistent with IFRS.
The financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis under the historical cost convention, except 
for investment valuations which are measured at fair value.
The notes and financial statements are presented in pounds 
sterling (being the functional currency and presentational 
currency for the Company) and are rounded to the 
nearest thousand except where otherwise indicated.
The Directors consider that the Company has adequate 
financial resources to enable it to continue in operation for 
the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Directors believe 
that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the Company’s financial statements.

SEGMENTAL REPORTING
The decision maker is the Board of Directors. The 
Directors are of the opinion that the Company is engaged 
in a single segment of business, being the investment of 
the Company’s capital in financial assets comprising loans 
and joint venture equity contracts. The Company derived 
revenue totalling £528k where the amounts from two 
individual borrowers each exceeded more than 10% of 
the Company’s revenue. The individual amounts were 
£277k and £251k.

USE OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND 
ASSUMPTIONS
The preparation of financial statements requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the amounts reported for assets and liabilities as 
at the reporting date and the amounts reported for 
revenue and expenses during the year. The nature of the 
estimation means that actual outcomes could differ from 
those estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions 
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.
The following are areas of particular significance to the 
Company’s financial statements and include the use of 
estimates for the application of judgement:
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN 
APPLYING THE COMPANY’S 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES – 
INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS:
The Company owns 25.1% profit share holdings in 
relation to seven of the borrowers in place as at the year 
end. These investments held have been designated at fair 
value through profit or loss. The determination of what 
constitutes fair value requires critical judgement.  See note 
8 for details on fair value.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN 
APPLYING THE COMPANY’S 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES – LOANS AT 
AMORTISED COST:
The Company accounts for its loans at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method less impairment 
provisions. The determination of whether there 
requires to be an impairment adjustment requires critical 
judgement.

GOING CONCERN
In assessing the going concern basis of accounting the 
Directors have had regard to the guidance issued by the 
Financial Reporting Council. After making enquiries, and 
bearing in mind the nature of the Company’s business 
and assets, the Directors consider that the Company has 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future, a period not less than twelve 
months from the date of this report. Further detail is 
contained in the Strategic Report on page 14.

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED 
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
At the date of authorisation of this report, the following 
amendments to Standards were assessed to be relevant 
and are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 December 2017:

IFRS 9 – ‘Financial Instruments’ specifies how an entity 
should classify and measure financial assets and liabilities. 
The standard improves and simplifies the approach 
for classification and measurement of financial assets 
compared with the requirements of IAS 39. The standard 
applies a consistent approach to classifying financial assets 
and replaces the many categories of financial assets 
contained within IAS 39. IFRS 9 divides all financial assets 

into three classifications – those measured at amortised 
cost, and those measured at fair value, and those 
measured at fair value through Other Comprehensive 
Income. Specifically, under IFRS 9 loans and receivables 
can be measured at amortised cost only if the objective 
of the entity is to hold the financial asset to collect 
contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the 
financial asset give rise on specific dates to cash flows 
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal outstanding. IFRS 9 also requires expected credit 
losses to be recognised in contrast to IAS 39 which only 
recognises incurred credit losses.

Each loan was assessed on an individual basis to determine 
whether there is any evidence of impairment. During 
the year, allowances for impairment losses amounting 
to £746,000 (2017: nil), in relation to three loans, were 
recognised in the statement of profit and loss. The other 
loans are either close to repayment or refinancing; with, or 
close to, having value in the associated profit shares; or, at 
an early, ground breaking, stage.  Taking this into account, 
and having asked the Investment Adviser to consider and 
report on its experience in relation to its wider property 
portfolio, the Directors do not, at this time, expect the 
implementation of IFRS 9 to have a material effect on the 
financial statements of the Company.

IFRS 15 - ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ 
IFRS 15 establishes the principles to apply when reporting 
information about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty 
of revenue and cash flows from a contract with a customer. 
The standard introduces a five step revenue recognition 
model to be applied to all contracts with customers to 
determine whether, how much, and when revenue is 
recognised. The new standard is effective from 1 January 
2018, and replaces IAS 11 ‘Construction Contracts’, IAS 
18 ‘Revenue’, IFRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’, 
IFRIC 15 ‘Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate’, 
IFRIC 18 ‘Transfers of Assets from Customers’ and SIC 
31 ‘Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising 
Services’. It applies to contracts with customers but does 
not apply to insurance contracts, financial instruments or 
lease contracts, which fall under the scope of other IFRSs. 
Assessments performed to date by the Company indicate 
adoption of IFRS 15 will not have a material impact on the 
Company due to the nature of its income. 

INTEREST INCOME
For financial instruments measured at amortised cost, the 
effective interest rate method is used to measure the carrying 

Continued
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value of a financial asset or liability and to allocate associated 
interest income or expense over the relevant period. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated 
future cash payments or receipts over the expected life of 
the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter 
period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or 
financial liability. In calculating the effective interest rate, the 
cash flows are estimated considering all contractual terms 
of the financial instrument but does not consider expected 
credit losses. The calculation includes all fees received and 
paid and costs borne that are an integral part of the effective 
interest rate.
On an on-going basis the Investment Adviser assesses 
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset is 
impaired. A financial asset is impaired and impairment losses 
are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of 
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred 
after the initial recognition of the asset and that that event 
has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
asset that can be reliably estimated.

EXPENSES
Expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis. The 
Company’s administration fees, finance costs and all 
other expenses are charged through the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and are charged to revenue. 
Fees incurred in relation to operational costs of the loan 
portfolio, such as legal fees, are charged through the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income and are charged to 
capital.

DIVIDENDS TO SHAREHOLDERS
Dividends are accounted for in the period in which they are 
paid, except for dividends requiring shareholder approval 
which will be recognised when approved by shareholders.

TAXATION
Taxation on the profit or loss for the period comprises 
current and deferred tax. Taxation is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income except to the extent 
that it relates to items recognised as direct movements 
in equity, in which case it is also recognised as a direct 
movement in equity.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable 
income for the period, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method 
on all temporary differences at the reporting date between 

the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred 
income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that 
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 
which deductible temporary differences, carried forward 
tax credits or tax losses can be utilised. The amount of 
deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner 
of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities. Deferred income tax relating to items 
recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and 
not in profit or loss.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES
The financial assets and financial liabilities are classified at 
inception into the following categories:
Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss This category consists of the investments in 
the profit share equity contracts.
Investments in the profit share equity contracts are initially 
recognised at nil cost. The fair value of the contracts is 
monitored and reviewed quarterly using recognised 
valuation techniques.
Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on 
the trade date, the date which the Company commits to 
purchase or sell the assets and are derecognised when 
the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets 
have expired or the Company has transferred substantially 
all risks and rewards of ownership. Transaction costs for 
financial assets are expensed. Gains and losses arising 
from changes in the fair value of the financial instruments 
are included in the profit or loss in the period in which 
they arise.

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. Loans are recognised at transaction 
price when the funds are advanced to borrowers. Where 
there is no transaction price such as with the initial loan 
portfolio at launch, the loans are recognized at fair value 
in exchange for share capital. Loans and receivables are 
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method less provisions for impairment. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts, including fees paid, through the 
expected life of the loans to the net carrying amount on 
initial recognition.
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IMPAIRMENT
In evaluating the portfolio and estimating impairment, 
the Company assesses whether there is evidence that 
a financial asset is impaired. A financial asset is impaired 
and impairment losses are incurred if there is evidence 
of impairment as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ’loss 
event’) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset that can be reliably 
estimated. 
The criteria the Company uses to determine there is 
evidence of an impairment loss include, but are not 
limited to, the following:

•  delinquency in contractual payments of principal or 
interest; 

•  cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower; 
•  initiation of bankruptcy proceedings; 
•  the customer being granted a concession that 

would otherwise not be considered; and 
•  observable data indicating that there is a measurable 

decrease in the estimated future cash flows from 
a portfolio of assets since the initial recognition of 
those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be 
identified with the individual financial assets in the 
portfolio. 

If there is evidence an impairment loss on a financial asset 
has occurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted 
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use 
of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is 
recognised in profit or loss. The loss is split between 
revenue and capital in proportion as to whether it relates 
to the loss of interest or capital amounts. If a loan has 
a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring 
any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate 
determined under the contract. 
If the Company determines no evidence of impairment 
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether 
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial 
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively 
assesses them for impairment. Evidence of impairment of 
a portfolio of receivables exists if objective data indicates a 
decrease in expected future cash flows from a collection 
of receivables and the decrease can be measured reliably 
but cannot be identified with the individual receivables in 
the portfolio in a collective provision is applied. 

When a loan or receivable is not economic to recover, 
it is written off against the related provision for loan 
impairments. Such loans are written off after all the 
necessary procedures have been completed and the 
amount of the loss has been determined. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are 
recognised directly in the statement of profit and loss 
through the impairment line. If, in a subsequent period, the 
amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the impairment 
allowance. The amount of reversal is recognised in 
statement of profit and loss. 

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
Accounting standards recognise a hierarchy of fair value 
measurements for financial instruments which gives the 
highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the 
lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). The 
classification of financial instruments depends on the 
lowest significant applicable input, as follows:

• Level 1 – Unadjusted, fully accessible and current 
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities. Examples of such instruments would 
be investments listed or quoted on any recognised 
stock exchange.

• Level 2 – Quoted prices for similar assets or 
liabilities, or other directly or indirectly observable 
inputs which exist for the duration of the period of 
investment. Examples of such instruments would 
be forward exchange contracts and certain other 
derivative instruments.

• Level 3 – External inputs are unobservable. Value is 
the Directors’ best estimate, based on advice from 
relevant knowledgeable experts, use of recognised 
valuation techniques and on assumptions as to 
what inputs other market participants would apply 
in pricing the same or similar instrument.

 All investments are considered Level 3.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and 
short-term deposits in banks with an original maturity of 
three months or less.

Continued
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OTHER RECEIVABLES
Other receivables do not carry interest and are short-term 
in nature. They are initially stated at their nominal value 
and reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated 
irrecoverable amounts, if deemed appropriate.  There 
were no irrecoverable amounts accounted for at the year 
end or the prior period end.

RESERVES
SHARE PREMIUM
The surplus of net proceeds received from the issuance of 
new shares over their par value is credited to this account 
and the related issue costs are deducted from this account.

CAPITAL RESERVE
The following are accounted for in the capital reserve:

• Capital charges;
• Increases and decreases in the fair value of 

investments held at the year end

REVENUE RESERVE
The net profit / (loss) arising in the revenue column of 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income is added to or 
deducted from this reserve which is available for paying 
dividends.

SPECIAL DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE
Created from the Court of Session cancellation of the 
initial launch share premium account and is available for 
paying dividends.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Company’s capital is represented by the Ordinary 
Shares, share premium, capital reserves, revenue reserve 
and special distributable reserve. The Company is not 
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
The capital of the Company is managed in accordance with 
its investment policy, in pursuit of its investment objective.  
Capital management activities may include the allotment 
of new shares, the buy back or re-issuance of shares from 
treasury, the management of the Company’s discount to 
net asset value and consideration of the Company’s net 
gearing level.
There have been no changes in the capital management 
objectives and policies or the nature of the capital managed 
during the year.

2. INCOME

3. INVESTMENT MANAGER’S AND 
INVESTMENT ADVISER’S FEES

INVESTMENT MANAGER
The Company has appointed R&H Fund Services 
(Jersey) Limited to act as the Company’s alternative 
investment fund manager (AIFM) for the purposes 
of AIFMD pursuant to the Investment Management 
Agreement and accordingly the AIFM is responsible for 
providing discretionary portfolio management and risk 
management services to the Company, subject to the 
overall control and supervision of the Directors. The 
AIFM is entitled to receive fees from the Company of 
£15,000 per annum on total assets up to £100 million, 
or a fee from the Company of £20,000 per annum if 
total assets are over £100 million. There is a balance of 
£18,000 accrued for the Investment Manager for the 
year to 30 November 2018 and a balance of £15,000 
for the year to 30 November 2017.

INVESTMENT ADVISER
The AIFM has appointed Tier One Capital Limited to 
act as the Company’s investment adviser pursuant to 
which the AIFM has delegated discretionary portfolio 
management services to the Investment Adviser, subject 
to the overall control and supervision of the Directors.
The Investment Adviser is entitled to receive from the 
Company an investment adviser fee which is calculated 
and paid quarterly in arrears at an annual rate of 0.25 
per cent. per annum of the prevailing Net Asset Value 
if less than £100m; or 0.50 per cent. per annum of 
the prevailing Net Asset Value if £100m or more. 
The Investment Adviser has agreed (unless otherwise 
decided by the Board) to waive its fee until the Net 
Asset Value is at least £50 million.
There are no performance fees payable. 

30 November 
2018
£’000

30 November 
2017
£’000

Interest from 
loans 2,044 1,347

Total income 2,044 1,347
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Revenue Capital Revenue Capital

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Legal & professional 44 - 5 108

Directors’ fees 120 - 79 -

Audit fees 67 - 62 -

Fund Administration and Company Secretarial 74 - 61 -

Brokers’ fees 27 - 26 -

Marketing fees 59 - - -

Valuation fees 40 - - -

AIFM fee 18 - - -

Loan impairments 317 429 - -

Other expenses 101 - 93 -

Total other expenses 867 429 326 108

30 November 2018
£’000

30 November 2017
£’000

Current corporation tax at 19% (2017:19.33%) - 48

Deferred taxation - -

Tax on profit on ordinary activities - 48

Reconciliation of tax charge

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 838 913

Taxation at standard corporation tax rate 19% (2017: 19.33%) 162 176

Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 142 21

Interest distributions (304) (149)

Tax charge for the year - 48

30 November 2018

All expenses are inclusive of VAT where applicable. Further details on Directors’ fees can be found in the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report on page 24.

As an investment trust the Company is exempt from corporation tax on capital gains.  The Company’s revenue 
income from loans is subject to tax, but offset by any interest distribution paid, which has the effect of reducing the 
corporation tax. The interest distribution may be taxable in the hands of the Company’s shareholders.

30 November 2017

4. OPERATING EXPENSES 

5. TAXATION
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30 November 30 November
Pence per

share
2018
£’000

Pence per
share

2017
£’000

Interim dividend for the quarter ended 28 February 2018 1.75 415 - -

Interim dividend for the quarter ended 31 May 2018 1.75 448 1.00 213

Interim dividend for the quarter ended 31 August 2018 1.75 471 1.00 220

Total dividends paid during and relating to the year 1,334 433

Interim dividend for the quarter ended 30 November 2018 1.75 471 1.50 340

Total dividend declared in relation to the year 1,805 773

The Company intends to distribute at least 85% of its distributable income earned in each financial year by way of 
interest distribution.  On 13 December 2018, the Company declared an interim dividend of 1.75 pence per share for 
the quarter ended 30 November 2018, payable on 4 January 2019. On 21 February 2019 the Company declared an 
interim dividend of 1.50 pence per share for the quarter ended 28 February 2019, payable on 4 April 2019.

6. ORDINARY DIVIDENDS

7. EARNINGS PER SHARE
 

The revenue, capital and total return per ordinary 
share is based on each of the profit after tax and on 
25,593,773 ordinary shares, being the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares in issue throughout 
the year.

8. INVESTMENTS HELD AT FAIR 
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The Company’s investment held at fair value through profit 
or loss represents its profit share arrangements whereby the 
Company owns 25.1% of the following companies:

Ryka Developments
As was the case last year, the Company is currently looking 
to either re-finance or sell the Ryka facility.  During the 
year some progress was made on a refinance but the offer 
verbally presented by the broker (from Oak North bank) 
fell away.  The Company is likely to maintain a 20% to 30% 
interest with a second charge.  The uncertainty surrounding 
the future structure of a much reduced facility does not affect 
the value of the outstanding loan at 30 November, but the 
uncertainty around the future of the JV leads us to ascribe no 
value to the JV at 30 November.  This will be re-assessed 
once the re-financing/sale is concluded.

Thursby Homes (Springs)
At the year-end the demolition had been completed (£167K) 
and the first valuation was due to be submitted in late 
December by Able Construction (Total contract of £2.9m).  

The project remains at a very early stage and no equity value 
could currently be expected to be recovered should it not 
complete.  There is no threat to the recoverability of the 
loan, but any fair value that might be ascribed to the JV is 
currently de minimis.

Bede & Cuthbert Developments
At the year end date, thirteen units of the twenty had been 
contracted to sell.  Post year end there have been seven legal 
completions, facilitating a capital repayment in December, 
with another six legal completions scheduled for April.  The 
development is now at a sufficiently complete stage that 
the Board feels it is appropriate to recognise a fair value of 
£104,000.

Gatsby Homes
The Board has determined that an impairment is taken on 
this loan.  Therefore there is no equity value to recognise.

Newgate Street and Whitefield Farm
At the year end, no monies had been spent on Whitefield 
Farm and only a small amount of monies had been spent 
on Newgate Street. The projects remain at a very early 
stage and no equity value could currently be expected to be 
recovered should they not complete.  This is expected to 
change over the coming months.

Gateshead Town Hall 
In respect of Gateshead Town Hall, the fair value of the profit 
share has been determined at nil as the project remains at a 
very early stage.  This will continue to be reviewed over the 
coming months.
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30 November
2018
£’000

30 November
2017
£’000

Opening balance 21,782 -

Loans advanced at launch - 11,601

Loans deployed 10,260 11,806

Principal repayments (3,918) (1,625)

Impairments (746) -

Total loans at amortised cost 27,378 21,782

Split:
Non-current assets: Loans due for repayment after one year 8,238 10,783

 Current assets: Loans due for repayment under one year 19,140 10,999

The Company’s loans are accounted for using the effective interest method. The carrying value of each loan is 
determined after taking into consideration any requirement for impairment provisions during the year, allowances 
for impairment losses amounted to £746,000 (2017: nil). Further details on impairment can be found within the 
accounting polices note on page 45.

9. LOANS AT AMORTISED COST

30 November
2018
£’000

30 November
2017
£’000

Prepayments 8 11

Loan interest receivable 465 288

Total receivables 473 299

10. RECEIVABLES

On 23 October 2018 the Company entered into an £8.5 million committed revolving facility with Shawbrook Bank 
Limited.  The facility has a one year term and is due to expire on 22 October 2019 after which it is anticipated that 
the Company will take out a new facility on comparable terms.  £3.0 million was drawn down at the year end at an 
interest rate of 4.479345%. The facility is secured against a debenture over the assets of the Company.

30 November
2018
£’000

30 November
2017
£’000

Bank loan 2,944 -

11. LOAN FACILITY 
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Nominal  value
£’000

Number of
Ordinary shares 

of 1p

At 30 November 2017 227 22,693,559

Issue 7 December 2017 10 958,257

Issue 2 March 2018 5 617,216

Issue 5 April 2018 14 1,350,000

Issue 18 June 2018 13 1,305,031

Issued and fully paid as at 30 November 2018 269 26,924,063

The ordinary shares are eligible to vote and have the right to participate in either an interest distribution or participate 
in a capital distribution (on a winding up).

13. SHARE CAPITAL

30 November
2018
£’000

30 November
2017
£’000

Accruals 203 83

Taxation payable - 48

Total other payables 203 131

12. OTHER PAYABLES 



51

15. RELATED PARTIES

The Directors are considered to be related parties. 

Stephen Black and Ian McElroy are shareholders and 
have control of Tier One Capital Limited.

Tier One Capital Limited received no fees during the 
year (30 November 2017: £nil) and £nil was payable 
at the year end (30 November 2017: £nil). In its 
capacity as Security Trustee and Facility Agent for the 
loan book, the Investment Adviser receives payment 
from the borrower for the origination and ongoing 
monitoring of the debt facilities.

There are various related party relationships in place 
with the borrowers as below:

• Quartztec

 Stephen Black and Ian McElroy were directors 
of Quarztec Holdings Limited.  This project was 
fully repaid in January 2018.  Tier One Capital 
Investments Ltd owned 25.1% of Quartztec 

Holdings Limited. The loan amount outstanding 
as at 30 November 2018 was £nil (30 November 
2017; £0.44m). Transactions in relation to loans 
(repaid)/made during the year amounted to 
(£0.44m) (30 November 2017: £0.44m). Interest 
due to be received as at 30 November 2018 was 
£nil (30 November 2017; £0.006m). Interest 
received during the year amounted to £0.012m 
(30 November 2017: £0.024m).

• Pendower Hall

 Stephen Black and Ian McElroy are directors of 
Pendower Hall Ltd. Pendower Hall Ltd is 100% 
owned by Inperpetuity Ltd. Inperpetuity Ltd is 
100% owned by Stephen Black, Ian McElroy 
and their respective spouses. The loan amount 
outstanding as at 30 November 2018 was £1.713m 
(30 November 2017; £1.232m). Transactions in 
relation to loans made during the year amounted to 
£0.480m (30 November 2017; £1.232m). Interest 
due to be received as at 30 November 2018 was 

Continued

Share 
premium

Special 
distributable 

reserve

Capital 
reserve

Revenue 
reserve

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 30 November 2017 5,152 16,455 (108) 540 22,039

Profit for the year - - (325) 1,163 838

Share issues 4,188 - - - 4,188

Share issue costs (246) - - - (246)

Cancellation of share premium - - - - -

Dividend paid - - - (1,674) (1,674)

At 30 November 2018 9,094 16,455 (433) 29 25,145

Following the approval of the Court and the subsequent registration of the Court order with the Registrar of 
Companies on 30 March 2017, the share premium cancellation was effective.  Share premium of £16,454,963 
(after deduction of initial launch costs amounting to £672,977) was transferred to a special distributable reserve. 

14. RESERVES
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£0.027m (30 November 2017: £0.021m). Interest 
received during the year amounted to £0.139m 
(30 November 2017: £0.081m).

• Commerce Chambers 

 Stephen Black and Ian McElroy are formerly 
directors of Commerce Chambers Ltd, having 
resigned on 15 June 2018. Commerce Chambers 
Ltd is 100% owned by Inperpetuity Ltd. Inperpetuity 
Ltd is 100% owned by Stephen Black, Ian McElroy 
and their respective spouses. This project was fully 
repaid in June 2018. The loan amount outstanding 
as at 30 November 2018 was £nil (30 November 
2017; £1.505m). Transactions in relation to 
loans (repaid)/made during the year amounted 
to (£1.505m) (30 November 2017: £1.505m). 
Interest due to be received as at 30 November 
2018 was £nil (30 November 2017: £0.020m). 
Interest received during the year amounted to 
£0.070m (30 November 2017: £0.080m).

• Rare Earth Medburn 

 Stephen Black and Ian McElroy are former directors 
of Rare Earth Medburn Ltd, having resigned on 15 
June 2018. Rare Earth Medburn Ltd is 100% owned 
by Stephen Black and his spouse Jill Black, having 
previously been owned by Inperpetuity Ltd. The 
loan amount outstanding as at 30 November 2018 
was £1.840m (30 November 2017; £1.630m). 
Transactions in relation to loans made during the 
year amounted to £0.210m (30 November 2017: 
£1.630m). Interest due to be received as at 30 
November 2018 was £0.025m (30 November 
2017: £0.022m). Interest received during the year 
amounted to £0.141m (30 November 2017: 
£0.080m).

• Thursby Homes

 Tier One Capital Ltd owns 25.1% of Thursby 
Homes Ltd. T1C Nominees Ltd is a former director 
of Thursby Homes Ltd, having resigned on 25 
September 2018. T1C Nominees Ltd is owned by 
Stephen Black and Ian McElroy who are directors. 
The loan amount outstanding as at 30 November 
2018 was £0.967m (30 November 2017; 
£1.943m). Transactions in relation to loans (repaid)/

made during the year amounted to (£0.975m) (30 
November 2017: £1.943m). Interest due to be 
received as at 30 November 2018 was £0.013m 
(30 November 2017: £0.027m). Interest received 
during the year amounted to £0.099m (30 
November 2017: £0.100m).

The following related parties arise due to the 
opportunity taken to advance the 25.1% profit share 
contracts:

• Ryka  Developments

 TOC Property Backed Lending Trust plc owns 
25.1% of the borrower Ryka Developments 
Ltd. Stephen Black is a former director of Ryka 
Developments Ltd, having resigned on 21 
September 2018. The loan amount outstanding 
as at 30 November 2018 was £2.300m (30 
November 2017; £2.300m). Transactions in 
relation to loans made during the year amounted 
to £nil (30 November 2017: £2.300m). Interest 
due to be received as at 30 November 2018 was 
£0.031m (30 November 2017: £0.031m). Interest 
received during the year amounted to £0.184m (30 
November 2017: £0.118m).

• Gatsby Homes

 TOC Property Backed Lending Trust plc owns 
25.1% of the borrower Gatsby Homes Ltd. T1C 
Nominees Ltd is a former director of Gatsby 
Homes Ltd, having resigned on 5 October 2018.

 The loan amount outstanding as at 30 November 
2018 was £1.870m (30 November 2017; 
£0.750m). Transactions in relation to loans made 
during the year amounted to £1.120m (30 
November 2017: £0.750m). Interest due to be 
received as at 30 November 2018 was £0.031m 
(30 November 2017: £0.011m). Interest received 
during the year amounted to £0.100m (30 
November 2017: £0.021m).

• Bede and Cuthbert Developments

 TOC Property Backed Lending Trust plc owns 
25.1% of the borrower Bede and Cuthbert 
Developments Ltd. Stephen Black and Ian McElroy 
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are former directors of Bede and Cuthbert 
Developments Ltd, having resigned on 24 October 
2018. The loan amount outstanding as at 30 
November 2018 was £2.625m (30 November 
2017; £1.000m). Transactions in relation to loans 
made during the year amounted to £1.625m (30 
November 2017: £1.000m). Interest due to be 
received as at 30 November 2017 was £0.035m 
(30 November 2017: £0.009m). Interest received 
during the year amounted to £0.146m (30 
November 2017: £0.011m).

• Thursby Homes (Springs)

 TOC Property Backed Lending Trust plc owns 
25.1% of the borrower Thursby Homes (Springs) 
Ltd. The loan amount outstanding as at 30 
November 2018 was £1.375m (30 November 
2017; £nil). Transactions in relation to loans 
made during the year amounted to £1.375m (30 
November 2017: £1.000m). Interest due to be 
received as at 30 November 2017 was £0.018m 
(30 November 2017: £nil). Interest received during 
the year amounted to £0.054m (30 November 
2017: £nil).

• Northumberland

 TOC Property Backed Lending Trust plc owns 
25.1% of the borrower Northumberland Ltd. 
The loan amount outstanding as at 30 November 
2018 was £1.500m (30 November 2017; £nil). 
Transactions in relation to loans made during 
the year amounted to £1.500m (30 November 
2017: £nil). Interest due to be received as at 30 
November 2018 was £0.030m (30 November 
2017: £nil). Interest received during the year 
amounted to £0.041m (30 November 2017: £nil).

• Dinosauria

 TOC Property Backed Lending Trust plc owns 
25.1% of the borrower Northumberland Ltd. 
The loan amount outstanding as at 30 November 
2018 was £0.550m (30 November 2017; £nil). 
Transactions in relation to loans made during 
the year amounted to £0.550m (30 November 
2017: £nil). Interest due to be received as at 30 

November 2018 was £0.007m (30 November 
2017: £nil). Interest received during the year 
amounted to £0.019m (30 November 2017: £nil).

16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Consistent with its objective, the Company holds a 
diversified portfolio of fixed rate loans secured with 
collateral in the form of; land or property in the UK, 
charges held over bank accounts and personal or 
corporate guarantees. The benefit of a related profit 
share may also be agreed. In addition, the Company’s 
financial instruments comprise cash and receivables 
and payables that arise directly from its operations. The 
Company does not have exposure to any derivative 
instruments.

The Company is exposed to various types of risk that 
are associated with financial instruments. The most 
important types are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest 
rate risk and market price risk. There is no foreign 
currency risk as all assets and liabilities of the Company 
are maintained in pounds sterling.

The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing 
the Company’s risk exposure. These policies are 
summarised below:

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or counterparty will 
be unable or unwilling to meet a commitment that it 
has entered into with the Company.

In the event of default by a borrower if it is in financial 
difficulty or otherwise unable to meet its obligations 
under the agreement, the Company will suffer an 
interest shortfall and potentially a loss of capital. This 
potentially will have a material adverse impact on the 
financial condition and performance of the Company 
and/or the level of dividend cover. The Board receives 
regular reports on concentrations of risk and the 
performance of the projects underlying the loans, using 
loan to value percentages to help monitor the level of 
risk. The Investment Adviser monitors such reports in 
order to anticipate, and minimise the impact of, default.
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There were financial assets which were considered 
impaired at 30 November 2018, with impairments 
amounting to £746,000 (30 November 2017: £nil).

All of the Company’s cash is be placed with financial 
institutions with a long-term credit rating of A or better. 
Bankruptcy or insolvency of such financial institutions 
may cause the Company’s ability to access cash placed 
on deposit to be delayed or limited. Should the credit 
quality or the financial position of the banks currently 
employed significantly deteriorate, cash holdings would 
be moved to another bank.

LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter 
difficulties in realising assets or otherwise raising funds 
to meet financial commitments. The Company’s 
investments comprise fixed rate loans. These loans 
in which the Company invests are not traded in an 
organised public market and may be illiquid. As a result, 
the Company may not be able to liquidate quickly its 
investments at an amount close to their fair value in 
order to meet its liquidity requirements.

The Company’s liquidity risk is managed on an ongoing 
basis by the Investment Adviser and monitored on a 
quarterly basis by the Board. 

INTEREST RATE RISK

Some of the Company’s financial instruments will be 
interest-bearing. As a consequence, the Company will 
be exposed to interest rate risk due to fluctuations in 
the prevailing market rate.

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities is not 
materially different from their carrying value in the 
financial statements.

When the Company retains cash balances, they will 
ordinarily be held on interest-bearing deposit accounts. 
The Company’s policy is to hold cash in variable rate 
or short term fixed rate bank accounts. Exposure varies 
throughout the year as a consequence of changes in the 
composition of the net assets of the Company arising 
out of the investment and risk management policies.

MARKET PRICE RISK

The management of market price risk is part of the 
investment management process. The portfolio is 
managed with an awareness of the effects of adverse 
valuation movements through loan impairment and 
continuing analysis, with an objective of maximising 
overall returns to shareholders. The likelihood of 
impairment is inherently difficult to value due to the 
individual nature of each loan and underlying property. 
As a result, valuations are subject to uncertainty. Such 
risk is minimised through the appointment of external 
property valuers.

While the valuations of the Profit Shares will be in 
compliance with IFRS on the basis of market value in 
accordance with the International Private Equity and 
Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines, they will be 
difficult to value accurately and will rely on information 
being provided to the Company from the joint venture 
vehicle. There can be no assurance that the values of 
the Profit Shares reported by the Company from time 
to time will in fact be realised.

17. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

• On 4 January 2019, a dividend of 1.75 pence per 
ordinary share was paid.

• On 21 February 2019, a dividend of 1.50p was 
declared with an xd date of 28 February 2019, 
record date of 1 March 2019 and a payment date 
of 4 April 2019.

• On 27 February 2019, Bylaugh Hall repaid its loan 
in full to the amount of £3.4m.

• On 1 March 2019, £3.0m was repaid to Shawbrook 
Bank, leaving the whole of the £8.5m facility 
available for drawdown.
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Notice of Annual 
General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting 
(“AGM”) of TOC Property Backed Lending Trust PLC 
(the “Company”) will be held at Tier One Capital, Keel 
House, Garth Heads, Newcastle-upon-Tyne, NE1 
2JE on 30 April 2019 at 10 a.m. for the purposes of 
considering and, if thought fit, passing the resolutions 
below. Resolutions 1 to 4  (inclusive) will be proposed 
as ordinary resolutions and resolutions 5 and 6 
(inclusive) will be proposed as special resolutions.

ORDINARY BUSINESS 

Ordinary Resolutions

1. To receive the Company’s annual report and 
accounts for the financial year ended 30 November 
2018 (the “Annual Report and Accounts”), together 
with the directors’ report and the auditors’ report 
on those accounts.

2.  To approve the directors’ remuneration report 
(excluding the directors’ remuneration policy) for 
the year ended 30 November 2018 set out on 
pages 24 to 26 of the Annual Report and Accounts.

3.  To approve the dividend policy of the Company.

4.  To re-appoint BDO LLP as the Company’s auditor 
and to authorise the Directors to determine the 
remuneration of the auditors.

SPECIAL BUSINESS

5. That the Company be authorised generally and 
unconditionally, in accordance with Section 701 
of the Companies Act 2006 (the “Act”), to make 
market purchases (within the meaning of Section 
693(4) of the Act) of ordinary shares of £0.01 each 
(“Ordinary Shares”) provided that: 

a.  the maximum number of Ordinary Shares 
authorised to be purchased is 4,035,917; 

b.  the minimum price which may be paid for an 
Ordinary Share is £0.01; and 

c.  the maximum price which may be paid for an 
Ordinary Share must not be more than the 
higher of: (i) 5 per cent. above the average 
of the mid-market value of the Ordinary 
Shares for the five business days before the 
purchase is made; or (ii) the higher of the last 
independent trade and the highest current 
independent bid for Ordinary Shares. 

 The authority conferred by this resolution will 
expire on the earlier of the conclusion of the next 
annual general meeting of the Company and 15 
months from the passing of this resolution save 
that the Company may, before the expiry of the 
authority granted by this resolution, enter into a 
contract to purchase Ordinary Shares which will or 
may be executed wholly or partly after the expiry of 
such authority.

6. That a general meeting of the Company, other than 
an annual general meeting, may be called on not 
less than 14 clear days’ notice. 

By order of the Board
Maitland Administration Services 
(Scotland) Limited 
Company Secretary
Registered office:
Keel House, Garth Heads
Newcastle-upon-Tyne NE1 2JE
29th March 2019
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Notes

These notes should be read in conjunction with the 
notes on the Form of Proxy. 

Only shareholders on the Register of Members (the 
“Register”) at close of business on 26 April 2019 are 
entitled to attend and/or vote at the AGM in respect 
of the number of Ordinary Shares registered in their 
name at such time. In the event of any adjournment of 
the AGM, the time by which a person must be entered 
on the Register in order to have the right to attend and 
vote at the adjourned AGM is close of business. 48 
hours (excluding non-business days) before the time 
of the adjourned meeting. Such shareholders can vote 
in respect of the number of shares registered in their 
names at that time, but any subsequent changes to the 
Register shall be disregarded in determining rights to 
attend and vote. 

(i) Shareholders have the right to attend, speak 
and vote at the AGM and will be asked to sign 
an attendance sheet on arrival at the meeting.

(ii) A member entitled to attend and vote at the 
AGM is entitled to appoint one or more 
proxies to exercise all or any of the rights of the 
member to attend and speak and vote in his 
place. A proxy need not be a member of the 
Company. If a member appoints more than one 
proxy to attend the AGM, each proxy must be 

appointed to exercise the rights attached to a 
different share or shares held by the member.

(iii) To appoint a proxy you may use the Form of 
Proxy enclosed with this notice. To be valid, 
the Form of Proxy, together with the power of 
attorney or other authority (if any) under which 
it is signed or a notarially certified or office copy 
of the same, must be completed and returned 
in accordance with the instructions printed 
thereon to Computershare Investor Services 
PLC at The Pavilions, Bridgwater Road, Bristol 
BS99 6ZY delivered by hand during office 
hours only to the same address to be received 
as soon as possible and in any event by not later 
than 10 a.m. on 26 April 2019. You can only 
appoint a proxy using the procedures set out in 
these notes and the notes to the Form of Proxy. 

(iv) Completion of the Form of Proxy will not 
prevent you from attending and voting in 
person.

(v) Any person receiving a copy of this notice as 
a person nominated by a member to enjoy 
information rights under section 146 of the Act 
(a “Nominated Person”) should note that the 
provisions in note (ii) above concerning the 
appointment of a proxy or proxies to attend 
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Continued

the AGM in place of a member, do not apply 
to a Nominated Person as only shareholders 
have the right to appoint a proxy. However, 
a Nominated Person may have a right under 
an agreement between the Nominated 
Person and the member by whom he or she 
was nominated to be appointed, or to have 
someone else appointed, as a proxy for the 
AGM. If a Nominated Person has no such proxy 
appointment right or does not wish to exercise 
it, he/she may have a right under such an 
agreement to give instructions to the member 
as to the exercise of voting rights at the AGM.

(vi) Nominated Persons should also remember 
that their main point of contact in terms of 
their investment in the Company remains 
the member who nominated the Nominated 
Person to enjoy information rights (or perhaps 
the custodian or broker who administers the 
investment on their behalf). Nominated Persons 
should continue to contact that member, 
custodian or broker (and not the Company) 
regarding any changes or queries relating 
to the Nominated Person’s personal details 
and interest in the Company (including any 
administrative matter). The only exception to 
this is where the Company expressly requests a 
response from a Nominated Person.

(vii) In the case of joint holders, the vote of the senior 
holder who tenders a vote whether in person 
or by proxy shall be accepted to the exclusion of 
the votes of the other joint holders and, for this 
purpose, seniority shall be determined by the 
order in which the names stand in the register 
of members of the Company in respect of the 
relevant joint holding.

(viii) Shareholders who hold their Ordinary Shares 
electronically may submit their votes through 
CREST, by submitting the appropriate and 
authenticated CREST message so as to be 
received by the Company’s registrar not later 
than 48 hours before the start of the meeting. 
Instructions on how to vote through CREST can 
be found by accessing the following website: 

www.euroclear.com/CREST. Shareholders are 
advised that CREST is the only method by 
which completed proxies can be submitted 
electronically.

(ix) If you are a CREST system user (including a 
CREST personal member) you can appoint 
one or more proxies or give an instruction 
to a proxy by having an appropriate CREST 
message transmitted. To appoint one or more 
proxies or to give an instruction to a proxy 
(whether previously appointed or otherwise) 
via the CREST system, CREST messages 
must be received by Computershare Investor 
Services PLC (ID number 3RA50) not later 
than 48 hours before the time appointed for 
holding the AGM excluding non-business days. 
For this purpose, the time of receipt will be 
taken to be the time (as determined by the 
timestamp generated by the CREST system) 
from which Computershare Investor Services 
PLC is able to retrieve the message. CREST 
personal members or other CREST sponsored 
members should contact their CREST sponsor 
for assistance with appointing proxies via CREST. 
For further information on CREST procedures, 
limitations and system timings please refer to 
the CREST Manual. The Company may treat 
as invalid a proxy appointment sent by CREST 
in the circumstances set out in regulation 35(5)
(a) of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 
2001.

(x) Any corporation which is a member may appoint 
one or more corporate representative(s) who 
may exercise on its behalf all of its powers as a 
member provided that, if it is appointing more 
than one corporate representative, it does 
not do so in relation to the same shares. It is, 
therefore, no longer necessary to nominate 
a designated corporate representative. 
Representatives should bring to the AGM 
evidence of their appointment, including any 
authority under which it is signed. 

(xi) If the Chairman, as a result of any proxy 
appointments, is given discretion as to how the 
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votes of those proxies are cast and the voting 
rights in respect of those discretionary proxies, 
when added to the interests in the Company’s 
securities already held by the Chairman, result 
in the Chairman holding such number of voting 
rights that she has a notifiable obligation under 
the Disclosure Guidelines and Transparency 
Rules, the Chairman will make the necessary 
notifications to the Company and the Financial 
Conduct Authority. As a result, any member 
holding 3 per cent or more of the voting rights 
in the Company who grants the Chairman a 
discretionary proxy in respect of some or all of 
those voting rights and so would otherwise have 
a notification obligation under the Disclosure 
Guidelines and Transparency Rules, need not 
make a separate notification to the Company 
and the Financial Conduct Authority.

(xii) Any question relevant to the business of the 
AGM may be asked at the AGM by anyone 
permitted to speak at the AGM. A holder of 
shares may alternatively submit a question 
in advance by a letter addressed to the 
Company’s registered office. Under section 
319A of the Act, the Company must answer 
any question a shareholder asks relating to the 
business being dealt with at the AGM, unless, (i) 
answering the question would interfere unduly 
with the preparation for the AGM or involve the 
disclosure of confidential information; (ii) the 
answer had already been given on a website in 
the form of an answer to a question; or (iii) it is 
undesirable in the interests of the Company or 
the good order of the AGM that the question 
be answered. 

(xiii) Under section 527 of the Act, a shareholder 
or shareholders meeting the criteria set out in 
note (xiv) below, have the right to request the 
Company to publish on its website a statement 
setting out any matter that such shareholders 
propose to raise at the AGM relating to the 
audit of the Company’s accounts (including the 
auditor’s report and the conduct of the audit) 
that are to be laid before the AGM. Where 
the Company is required to publish such a 

statement on its website: (i) it may not require 
the shareholder making the request to pay any 
expense incurred by the Company in complying 
with the request; (ii) it must forward the 
statement to the Company’s auditors no later 
than the time the statement is made available on 
the Company’s website; and (iii) that statement 
may be dealt with as part of the business of the 
AGM. The request: (a) may be in hard copy 
form or in electronic form; (b) either set out 
the statement in full or, if supporting a statement 
sent by another shareholder, clearly identify the 
statement which is being supported; (c) must be 
authenticated by the person or persons making 
it; and (d) be received by the Company at least 
one week before the AGM. 

(xiv) In order to be able to exercise the shareholders’ 
right to require the Company to publish audit 
concerns in accordance with note (xiii) above, 
the relevant request must be made by: (i) a 
shareholder or shareholders having a right to 
vote at the AGM and holding at least 5 per cent. 
of total voting rights in the Company (please 
see note (xvii) below in relation to total voting 
rights); or (ii) at least 100 shareholders having 
a right to vote at the AGM and holding, on 
average, at least £100 of paid up share capital.

(xv) Where a shareholder or shareholders wishes 
to request the Company to publish audit 
concerns in accordance with note (xiii) above, 
such request must be made by either sending: 
(a) a hard copy request which is signed by the 
relevant shareholder or shareholders, states 
such persons’ full name(s) and address(es) 
and sent to the Company Secretary, Maitland 
Administration Services (Scotland) Limited; or 
(b) a request which states the shareholder or 
shareholders’ full name and address(es), and sent 
by email to Martin.Cassels@maitlandgroup.
co.uk. Please state “TOC AGM” in the subject 
line of the e-mail.

(xvi) Further information regarding the AGM 
which the Company is required by section 
311A of the Act to publish on a website in 
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advance of the AGM can be accessed at www.
tocpropertybackedlendingtrust.co.uk. 

(xvii) As at 28 March 2019 (being the latest practicable 
date prior to the printing of this notice) the 
Company’s issued share capital consisted of 
26,924,063 Ordinary Shares carrying one vote 
each.  

(xviii) You may not use any electronic address provided 
either in this notice or any related documents 
(including the Form of Proxy) to communicate 
with the Company for any purpose other than 
those expressly stated.

(xix) A copy of the letters of appointment of the 
directors will be available for inspection during 
normal business hours at the Company’s 
registered office and at the place of the meeting 
from at least 15 minutes prior to the meeting 
until the end of the meeting.

EXPLANATION OF RESOLUTIONS

Resolutions 1 to 4 (inclusive) are proposed as ordinary 
resolutions. This means that for each of those 
resolutions to be passed, more than half of the votes 
cast must be in favour of the resolution. Resolutions 
5 and 6 (inclusive) are to be proposed as special 
resolutions. This means that for the resolutions to be 

passed, at least three-quarters of the votes cast must 
be in favour of the resolutions.

1.  Resolution 1 – The Directors are required to present 
the accounts, Directors’ report and auditor’s report 
to the meeting.

2. Resolution 2 – The Directors’ are required to 
present the directors’ remuneration report to the 
meeting. This vote is advisory and the Directors’ 
entitlement to receive remuneration is not 
conditional on it.

3. Resolutions 3 – The Directors’ present the 
Company’s dividend policy on an annual basis 
recognising that shareholders will not have the 
opportunity to vote on a final dividend.

4. Resolution 4 At each meeting at which the 
Company’s accounts are presented to its 
shareholders, the Company is required to appoint 
an auditor and seek shareholder consent for the 
Directors to set the remuneration of the auditors.

5. Resolution 5 – The Directors are requesting authority 
for the Company to make market purchases of 
Ordinary Shares up to a maximum nominal amount 
of £4,035,917 (representing 14.99 per cent. of 
the issued Ordinary Share capital of the Company 
as at 28 March 2019 (the latest practicable date 
prior to the publication of this document)). There 

Continued
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is no present intention to exercise such general 
authority. Any repurchase of Ordinary Shares will 
be made subject to the Act and within guidelines 
established from time to time by the Directors 
(which will take into account the income and cash 
flow requirements of the Company) and will be at 
the absolute discretion of the Directors, and not at 
the option of shareholders. Subject to shareholder 
authority for the proposed repurchases, general 
purchases of the Ordinary Shares in issue will only 
be made through the market. Such purchases may 
only be made provided the price to be paid is not 
more than the higher of: (i) five per cent. above 
the average of the middle market quotations for the 
Ordinary Shares for the five Business Days before 
the purchase is made; or (ii) the higher of the price 
of the last independent trade and the highest current 
independent bid at the time of purchase.

6. Resolution 6 – The Act provides that the notice 
period required for general meetings of the 
Company must be at least 21 clear days unless 
shareholders approve a shorter notice period, 
which cannot be less than 14 clear days (annual 
general meetings will continue to be held on at 
least 21 clear days’ notice). This resolution seeks 
shareholder approval to hold general meetings 
after giving notice of 14 or more clear days. The 
approval will be effective until the next annual 
general meeting, when it is intended that a similar 
resolution will be proposed. The Act provides that, 
in order to be able to call a general meeting on 
less than 21 clear days’ notice, the Company must 
make a means of electronic voting available to all 
shareholders for that meeting.



61

Share Register Enquiries

For shareholder enquiries, please contact the registrar, Computershare +44 (0) 370 702 0000.

Share Capital and Net Asset Value Information

Ordinary £0.01 Shares 26,924,063

SEDOL Number BD0ND66

ISIN Number GB00BD0ND667

Ticker PBLT

Share Prices

The Company’s shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange.

Annual and Interim Reports

Copies of the Annual and Interim Reports are available from the Company Secretary on telephone 0131 550 3766 
and are also available on the Company’s website www.tocpropertybackedlendingtrust.co.uk.

Provisional Financial Calendar

30 April 2019  Annual General Meeting

4 April 2019  Payment of interim dividend

31 May 2019  Interim period end

30 June 2019  Payment of interim dividend

31 August 2019  Interim period end results

30 September 2019  Payment of interim dividend

30 November 2019  Year end

31 December 2019  Payment of interim dividend

Shareholder Information
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AIC Association of Investment Companies
This is the trade body for Closed-end Investment 
Companies (www.theaic.co.uk).

AIFMD Alternative Investment Fund Managers 
Directive
Issued by the European Parliament in 2012 and 2013, 
the Directive requires the Company to appoint an 
Alternative Investment Fund Manager (AIFM). The 
Board of Directors of a Closed-ended Investment 
Company, nevertheless, remains fully responsible for 
all aspects of the Company’s strategy, operations and 
compliance with regulations.

AIFM Alternative Investment Fund Manager
The entity that provides portfolio management and 
risk management services to the Company and which 
ensures the Company complies with the AIFMD. 
The Company’s AIFM is R&H Fund Services (Jersey) 
Limited.

Basic Total Earnings per Share Total profit after 
taxation divided by the weighted average number of 
Ordinary Shares in issue during the period.

C share This is a class of share issued by investment 
trusts. It allows the increase in number of shares in 
issue and funds under management without reducing 
the value of the existing ordinary shares. ‘C’ shares are 
quoted separately from the ordinary shares until the 
money raised from their issue has been fully invested. 
After that, they are converted to ordinary shares at a 
value based on the trust’s net asset value.

Closed-end Investment Company
A company with a fixed issued ordinary share capital 
which is traded on a stock exchange at a price not 
necessarily related to the Net Asset Value of the 
company and where shares can only be issued or 
bought back by the company in certain circumstances. 

Discount (or Premium) of Share Price to NAV
If the share price is less than the Net Asset Value per 
share, the shares are trading at a discount. If the share 
price is greater than the Net Asset Value per share, 
the shares are trading at a premium. The discount 
(or premium) is calculated by reporting the difference 
between the Net Asset Value per share and the Share 
Price as a percentage of the Net Asset Value per share.

Dividend Yield
Calculated using the annual dividend as a percentage of 
the share price at the year end.

Dividends per Share
Dividends declared for the year.

Gearing
Total Assets less all cash divided by shareholders’ funds.

Increase/decrease in NAV
The movement in NAV in the period, shown in total 
and as a movement per share. Expressed in whole 
numbers and as a percentage.

Loan to Value
Debt outstanding and drawn at the period end, net of 
any cash held in the Lender deposit account, expressed 
as a percentage of the market value of all property 
assets.

Net Assets (or Shareholders’ Funds)
This is calculated as the value of the investments and 
other assets of an Investment Company, plus cash 
and debtors, less borrowings and any other creditors. 
It represents the underlying value of an Investment 
Company at a point in time.

Net Asset Value (NAV) per Ordinary Share
This is calculated as the net assets of the Company 
calculated under its accounting policies as set out on 
pages 42 to 46 divided by the number of shares in 
issue. This is the number disclosed at the foot of the 
Statement of Financial Position on page 39. 

NAV Total Return
The growth in NAV plus dividends reinvested, and this 
can be expressed as a percentage of NAV per share at 
the start of the year.

Ongoing Charges
All operating costs incurred by the Company, expressed 
as a proportion of its average Net Assets over the 
reporting year.

Share Price Total Return
The percentage change in the Share Price assuming 
dividends are reinvested to purchase additional 
Ordinary Shares at the prevailing share price.

Glossary
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SORP
Statement of Recommended Practice ‘Financial 
Statements of Investment Trust Companies and 
Venture Capital Trusts’ issued by the AIC.

Total Assets
This is calculated as the value of the investments and 
other assets of the Company, plus cash and debtors.

Total Return
The return to shareholders calculated on a per share 
basis by adding dividends paid in the period to the 
increase or decrease in the Share Price or NAV. The 
dividends are assumed to have been reinvested in the 
form of Ordinary Shares or Net Assets.

UK Corporate Governance Code
A code issued by the Financial Reporting Council 
which sets out standards of good practice in relation 
to board leadership and effectiveness, remuneration, 
accountability and relations with shareholders. All 
companies with a Premium Listing of equity shares in 
the UK are required under the Listing Rules to report 
on how they have applied the Code in their annual 
report and accounts.

Alternative Performance Measures (APMs)*
The Company uses the following APMs (as described 
in the glossary) to present a measure of profitability 
which is aligned with the requirements of our investors 
and potential investors, to draw out meaningful 
data around revenues and earnings to provide 
additional information not required for disclosure 
under accounting standards. All APMs relate to past 
performance.

• Dividend yield
• Increase / decrease in NAV
• Loan to value
• NAV  total return
• Ongoing charges
• Share price total return
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DIRECTORS

Stephen Coe
Chairman 

Stephen Black 
(resigned 18 April 2018) 

Matthew Harris
Audit chairman

Ian McElroy 
(appointed 18 April 2018) 

John Newlands

Douglas Noble 

REGISTERED OFFICE

Keel House
Garth Heads
Newcastle-upon-Tyne NE1 2JE

INVESTMENT ADVISER

Tier One Capital Ltd 
Keel House
Garth Heads
Newcastle-upon-Tyne NE1 2JE

BROKER AND FINANCIAL ADVISER 

finnCap Ltd
60 New Broad Street 
London EC2M 1JJ

SOLICITOR 

Gowling WLG (UK) LLP 
4 More London
Riverside
London SE1 2AU

AIFM

R&H Fund Services (Jersey) 
Limited 
Ordnance House
31 Pier Road St Helier
Jersey JE4 8PW

ADMINISTRATOR AND SECRETARY

Maitland Administration 
Services (Scotland) Limited
20 Forth Street
Edinburgh EH1 3LH

AUDITORS

BDO LLP 
150 Aldersgate Street
London EC1A 4AB

REGISTRAR

Computershare Investor 
Services PLC  
The Pavillions
Bridgwater Road
Bristol
BS99 6ZZ

WEBSITE

www.tocpropertybackedlendingtrust.co.uk

Corporate Information
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